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ChanCes
theme

Everyone needs CHANCES in life. We all make mistakes and 
experience failures, regardless of our intellectual capabilities or 
social status. Throughout our 23 years of providing aftercare service 

to ex-offenders, ISCOS has been actively supporting our members in 
achieving their core desire - a chance for a fresh start in life. Opening 
the doors of change, we help ex-offenders turn over a new leaf and 
find employment, education, love and forgiveness as they renew their 
relationships with their families and regain the trust of the community.  

However, keeping these doors open is only possible through the 
combined efforts of all segments of our society. Employers providing 
job and training opportunities, volunteers extending a listening ear  
and an open heart, and donors supporting rehabilitation and 
reintegration programmes all form the cornerstone for our members’ 
successful reintegration. 

Extending a hand to give our fellow man a second chance in life 
represents humanity at its finest. We invite everyone to join us in 
unlocking the doors for those struggling to turn their lives around and 
make the change for themselves and their families. 
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Media coverage Media coverage

Media coverageT V  – Channel newsasia, Channel 8, suria & Vasantham         Radio  - warna 94.2, Capital95.8Fm, Oli 96.8Fm         digiTal News  – Channel newsasia, asiaOne, tODaYOnline
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to promote self-esteem and 
economic independence in  
ex-offenders while guiding them 
towards good citizenship and 
good value systems.

iScoS MiSSion

we strive to achieve this mission by being:

l an organisation that is readily available to help ex-
offenders in their reintegration,  welfare and well-being,

l a Co-operative that develops enterprises which provide 
employment opportunities to our members, and

l a partner with whom members can fully utilise their 
skills and contribute as volunteers.

iScoS 5 es — PillarS for 
reintegration

employment
Obtaining a steady income is one of the crucial 

needs of ex-offenders upon their release from prison. 
aimed at boosting their chances of finding employ-
ment, isCOs extends employment assistance as part 
of our aftercare service. 

ISCOS Corporate Doors actively engages the 
business community, encouraging them to give 
reformed members a second chance with job 
opportunities. under this scheme, members will be 
referred to supportive enterprises in the hope of 
securing gainful employment.

the ISCOS Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme 
subsidises training programmes for members who 
need to upgrade their skill sets in order to increase 
their employability and advance themselves in 
today’s highly competitive job market.

aiding in our members’ job search, the Member 
Resource Centre houses computers to facilitate 
resume writing and online job applications.

education
education is an important factor in both personal 

development and career advancement. isCOs supports 
our members who wish to complete their studies or 
attain higher education by connecting them with 
relevant agencies who can assist them in their pursuits. 

extending our assistance to their families, 
members from low-income families receive aid 
for their children’s school needs under the ISCOS 
Fairy Godparent Programme. these students are 
awarded with Bursaries and undergo a Mentoring 
Programme in collaboration with corporate and 
industry partners. selected upper primary school 
students who are underperforming academically but 
desire to do better are given free professional tuition 
to improve their academic results.

entrepreneurship
isCOs actively supports our members’ businesses 

by utilising their services and providing referrals 
whenever possible. at the same time, members 
in need of funding assistance or direct grants 
are connected with existing entrepreneurship 
programmes available for their industry.

enrichment
we believe that a healthy lifestyle surrounded 

by a positive peer network is a central element 
in our members’ reintegration and rehabilitation. 
to this end, we organise sports and recreational 
activities such as the ISCOS Football Club and 
ISCOS RUNFREE Club. Volunteers coach, befriend 
and mentor our members who learn positive values 
such as teamwork, discipline and confidence and 
showcase their untapped talents as they join local 
competitions and community events.

empowerment
through the ISCOS Support Group, we  

empower members to manage work and life pressures 
in order to ease their transition into the community. 
under the ISCOS Mentoring Programme, young 
members receive guidance and encouragement from 
volunteer mentors who serve as positive role models.

we also engage members in activities that benefit 
the community. ISCOS Motivators, or members who 
have been successfully rehabilitated, are encouraged 
to share their life experiences with the community 
at speaking engagements and gatherings. in doing 
so, they demonstrate the importance of second 
chances, inspire continued support for ex-offenders 
and actively promote preventive education among  
our youth.
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iScoS chairMan

6 7

MeSSage MeSSage

6

For the year 2011, it has been an eventful one 
for isCOs. the Co-operative saw the expansion 
of the skills assistance subsidy scheme (sass) 

to cover soft skills training in our 2011 initiative. to 
complement the technical/vocational skill subsidised 
training already being offered, this covered modules 
such as Job readiness and effective financial 
budgeting and saving. such practical knowledge 
has proven to be very useful to our members who 
need to gain or rebuild their confidence in areas of 
employability and financial management after their 
discharge from prison.  i am pleased to report that, 
as of april 2012, 230 members had benefitted from 
the course.

Furthermore isCOs initiated a support group 
programme to render more timely and personable 
assistance to members who had just been released. 
this programme, which reached out to members of 
varying ages, had benefitted more than 130 who 
attend sessions touching on topics like employment, 
relationships and trust on a regular basis. 

isCOs also embarked on a mentoring programme 
to provide positive role models to our members. this 
programme has seen an increase in the number of 
professionals joining the fold to aid the reintegration 
of members. this year, continuous effort is 
undertaken to identify, train and match a larger pool 
of volunteers to equip them for this personalised and 
meaningful role.

we have been fortunate to encounter partners 
who believe in what we do, and who have given 
us a chance to spearhead meaningful projects. the 
sms project was borne out of a simple belief in the 
importance of maintaining contact with members. 
From the introduction of this project in 2010, with a 
reach of 500, we now reach out to over 3,000 members 
at any one time. this allows us to disseminate timely 
announcements, send out words of encouragement / 
inspiration, and lend a personable touch to the work 
we undertake.

we are delighted to report that the Co-operative 
has been able to attract many volunteers, sponsors 

and members of the public to support our cause. 
we are able to do more because of the support and 
belief people have in the work we do, especially 
in pioneering efforts where we do not have all the 
answers / expertise but just the conviction to make 
a difference.  indeed effort fuelled by people with 
conviction and passion brings about extraordinary 
results and we thank you for choosing to partner us.

Our reach to members continued to expand in 
2011, with more  ex-offenders joining us as members. 
a higher number of members also received job refer-
rals, training opportunities and stable employment. 
the Co-operative also went on to help more than 100 
children receive bursaries from a partnering agency, 
with a select group of children receiving tuition that 
is fully paid for by another generous sponsor. we  
believe that, as our programmes mature and we gain 
a better understanding of what work and what do not,  
we will be able to fine tune them to achieve  
greater efficacy.

isCOs is here for the long haul.  we endeavour to 
listen to our members and respond by developing 
programmes to facilitate their integration into 
society.  Furthermore we will build upon the good 
work of prisons to add value to the reintegration 
prospects of our members. in doing so, we believe 
the Co-operative can yield good returns on our 
sponsored projects and contribute to being an 
inclusive society.

and as i look back to the 
last 6 years as Chairman 
of isCOs, i have been 
personally blessed in many 
ways. in 2008, the Chairman’s 
Book prize was awarded to a 
member who was studying 
in the university. today, 
he has graduated, happily 
married and is working in 
the social service sector 
helping others. 

this is a fine example of what we hope our 
members will become – contributing back to the 
society after benefiting from it. i am also especially 
grateful to all my Board members who have spent 
time and their personal resources to guide the 
management of isCOs in the numerous initiatives.  
their selfless giving indeed has made my role easier. 

thank you. 

Mr andy lim
Chairman



8 9

director of PriSonS Score chairMan
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The best rehabilitation system in the world 
will be deemed a failure if ex-offenders find 
themselves rejected at every turn when they 

are released back into the community. when they 
are being turned away by their neighbours, employ-
ers and sometimes even their own families, many 
ex-offenders will end up choosing the familiar road 
which leads them back into prison. the community 
therefore plays a crucial role in the successful reinte-
gration of ex-offenders and we need to continuously 
create awareness, garner acceptance and inspire ac-
tion in the community towards giving ex-offenders a  
second chance. 

an ex-offender’s decision to ‘turn over a new 
leaf’ is not made at a specific moment in time, but 
is a process over time. the needs of offenders must 
not only be dealt with while they are inside prison 
but they must be seamlessly followed through 

outside of prison. it is during the aftercare phase 
where ex-offenders will be tested and tempted 
in the real world so we will need to scaffold them 
with temporary support so that they do not have to 
start their reintegration journey from the deep end.  
this effort of through care requires prisons to 
work closely with our partners, volunteers and the 
community at large. 

as one of the founding members of the Care 
network, isCOs has worked relentlessly alongside 
prisons and the other agencies towards offenders’ 
rehabilitation and reintegration. through its many 
programmes aimed at providing financial and 
employment assistance, encouraging pro-social 
lifestyles and networks, isCOs has created a positive 
impact on the lives of many ex-offenders. it has 
played an integral role in guiding and supporting 
ex-offenders in their reformation journey and 
empowering them to become better individuals  
with greater purpose.                    

i take this opportunity to affirm our continued 
commitment to the success of isCOs and i am con-
fident that isCOs will continue to break new ground 
and transform the lives of many ex-offenders. pris-
ons will be embarking on a challenging journey in 
2012 with a dramatic expansion in the area of after-
care work and i look forward to working even more 
closely with isCOs and our community partners. we 
may differ in terms of our organisational goals, but 
i believe that collectively, we can accomplish much 
more, and make singapore a safer and more secure 
home for all.

Mr soh wai wah
Director of Prisons

MeSSageMeSSage
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in the year 2011/12, isCOs had continued to widen its outreach, 
and i understand the programmes and services that were 
introduced focused on preparing ex-offenders to adjust more 

readily when they leave prison. prime examples include the support 
group programmes and training in soft skills such as how to be 
more employable and qualified workers.

while your efforts are laudable, there is room for more work to 
be done in strengthening the organisation’s programmes to meet 
the evolving demands of the members and aftercare sector.

the year will be challenging, as sCOre works with isCOs to 
explore commercial enterprises that can generate income as well as 
employ ex-offenders.  this is the Co-operative’s main mission when 
it was set up in 1989.  as partners of the Community action for the 
rehabilitation of ex-offenders (Care) network, we hope to support 
your projects and work amongst members.

i remain thankful to andy and his team of dedicated directors 
and staff at isCOs, who have expended their time and resources 
to further the cause of this humble organisation. may you remain 
steadfast and focused on your cause of helping ex-offenders rejoin 
society as dignified individuals and in doing so, i believe that you 
are already presenting precious chances to ex-offenders and their 
children.

please accept my congratulations for another year of fruitful 
endeavours, and may you see the fruition of your labour in the 
projects undertaken for the months ahead.

Mr Kong Mun Kwong
SCORE Chairman
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executive directorS

MeSSage Board of truSteeS 

Board of truSteeS

KoNg MuN KwoNg
Chairman

TaN BooN HuaT

QueK BiN Hwee
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Ng Yeow BooN

lee CHioNg giaM

2011 saw many exciting developments for 
isCOs. Over the past year, we introduced new 
initiatives, strengthened existing programmes 

and pursued continuous corporate engagement, 
all of which was geared towards providing more 
ChanCes to isCOs members and their families.

to help our members integrate well in the 
community, isCOs established a new division called 
social support services. this division pioneered 
the launch of the isCOs support Group and isCOs 
mentoring programme for young members, which 
focus on motivating and equipping members to 
better manage work and life pressures beyond 
prison walls. these initiatives would not have been 
possible without the support of the lee Foundation 
and a group of committed volunteer mentors and 
support group facilitators. as isCOs welcomes 
scores of new releasees monthly, we need a steady 
stream of such volunteers to come forward, so that 
we can provide support to more members who need 
positive influences in their lives. 

On the work front, isCOs members are 
continuously encouraged to obtain and upgrade 
their skills to improve their employability prospects 
after leaving prison. we are delighted that many 
have specifically benefited from the skills assistance 
subsidy scheme. through this, members can 

undergo practical training resulting in a Certificate or 
licence, the most popular of which include the wsQ 
Forklift without Class 3 Driving Course and Building & 
Construction supervisor safety Course. Completing 
these subsidised skills upgrading courses has helped 
our members improve their career prospects, and 
secure jobs and consistent incomes. many members 
have also found employment through Corporate 
Doors, an isCOs initiative which encourages 
businesses to hire at least one isCOs member.

as in previous years, the isCOs Fairy Godparent 
programme remains a strong advocate for our 
members’ children by giving educational assistance 
through bursaries, providing good role models 
through our befriending/mentoring schemes, and 
imparting positive life values via workshops and 
family-bonding activities. through these multi-
pronged efforts, we hope to encourage these 
children to aspire to a positive, fulfilling future.

all the opportunities we have provided our 
members and their families have been made possible 
because of the commitment and dedication of our 
supporters and volunteers. we are grateful for the 
overwhelming support from valued partners such 
as the lee Foundation, temasek, reaCh Community 
services society, Baker & mcKenzie.wong & leow, 
nets, singapore totalisator Board, singapore turf 
Club, exxonmobil, esun international, new Creation 
Church and many others.

thousands of ex-offenders are released in our 
community each year, and their needs are diverse. we 
hope you will continue to give us your support as we 
work to make each of their lives a more meaningful 
and productive one.

Freda Tham
Phang seok sieng
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Board of directorS

Board of directorS Board of directorS 

MR aNdY liM
Chairman

MR VeRNoN KHoo
Vice Chairman

MR alBeRT KoNg
honorary secretary

MR woNg HeNg Tew
honorary treasurer

Ms eliM CHew MR liM HoNg TaNMs sTaPHNie TaNgMR desMoNd CHiNMR KoH sioNg liNg Ms JoY TaN MR Teo Tze FaNg
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iScoS teaM

ManageMent & Staff

susaN KHoR
senior admin assistant

FReda THaM
executive Director, investment

PHaNg seoK sieNg
executive Director, Development

elVis oVeRee
member services manager

lisa CHeoNg
hr & admin manager

selVaKuMaR siMoN
social support services manager

NasYRaH Bee BiNTe MoHaMed
senior member services executive

Vida oRTiz
marketing manager

low HoCK leoNg
senior accounts executive

eFFY suHaiRY aHMad
member services executive

JeNCie ViJaYa
social support executive

RadiaH BiNTe isMail
senior programme Coordinator

KaMiso BiN YaHMaN
Operations Officer

From Left:

Not in Photo: EvEnt 
HigHligHts
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strEngtHEning Family Bonds
I’m glad that my 

family can enjoy fun 
activities together as  
I didn’t get to have this 
experience with my 
own parents.  

Strong family ties and unwavering support from 
loved ones are the cornerstones for many ex-
offenders to become law-abiding, responsible 

citizens. As such, ISCOS organises family gatherings 
and workshops aimed at building and strengthening 
relationships within the family. 

One such event was ISCOS Family Day 2011 which 
carried the theme “Strengthening Family Bonds”. 
Held at Sarimbun Camp on 23 June 2011, over 400 
people comprising ISCOS members and their families, 
volunteers from Temasek, the Singapore investment 
company, ISCOS volunteers and staff gathered for an 
afternoon of fun and games.  

Coinciding with Temasek’s Community Day, the 
event saw members of Temasek’s staff volunteer 
initiative, known as “T-Touch”, going out of their way 
to touch the lives of ISCOS members. They took pains 
to ensure a fun-filled event for the families, setting up 
carnival stalls, staging games and manning outdoor 
adventure stations. Each family was also assigned a 
befriender from Temasek, thus making it a rewarding 
experience for everyone.

The highlight of the event was the Lucky Draw 
featuring thoughtful prizes which were handed out 
by Ms Ho Ching, Executive Director & CEO of Temasek.

Touched by what she experienced at the event, 
ISCOS Member Norayati shared in between sobs: “I’m 
glad that my family can enjoy fun activities together 
as I didn’t get to have this experience with my own 
parents. As I have been in prison before, I don’t want 
to miss spending time with my children again and 
I’m glad that I can see my youngest daughter grow  
up now.”

Speaking on Temasek’s contributions to ISCOS 
Family Day 2011, Mr Fidah Alsagoff, Chairman 
of T-Touch, said, “We are glad the event made a 
difference, gave us an opportunity to befriend ISCOS 
members, and do our part to help strengthen the 
bonds among the ISCOS families.”

ISCOS FamIly day ISCOS Family day
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Bringing CHEEr to  
mEmBErs’ CHildrEn

In collaboration with Baker & McKenzie.Wong & 
Leow (BMWL), volunteers from both ISCOS and 
BMWL jointly organised the 3rd Children’s Day 

event on 8 October 2011. 

As venue sponsor, Underwater World Singapore 
(UWS) hosted around 120 children of ISCOS members 
as well as 60 parents and guardians. Inspired by the 
movie Finding Nemo, the children took part in games 
as well as a tour of UWS – all in line with the theme 
“The Journey Home”. 

BMWL’s participation comes as part of their 
holistic CSR initiative aimed at assisting ISCOS 
members’ children in the areas of education and 
enrichment. Said Mr Clive Cook, Managing Principal 
of BMWL, “We are honoured to work with ISCOS who 
do such effective and important work. The response 
from our staff has been terrific.”

Reiterating the need for such community 
involvement, ISCOS Executive Director (Investment) 
Ms Freda Tham said, “We recognise that our members’ 
children especially those from the low-income group 
need the support from the community particularly 
in raising their educational capacity and well-being. 
Through fun outdoor activities and games designed 
especially for our members’ children, boosted by 
interaction with various volunteers, we hope that the 
children will be enriched in their general knowledge, 
interpersonal skills and confidence level.”

Benefitting the most from everyone’s efforts 
were the children. 12-year-old Aishah, summed it up 
for the group when she said, “I’m always excited to 
attend the events in ISCOS because I learn a lot and I 
meet many people.” 

We are 
honoured to work 
with ISCOS who do 
such effective and 
important work.

ISCOS-BmWl ChIldren’S day ISCOS-BmWl ChIldren’S day 
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ExErCising and Bonding  
togEtHEr as a Family

ISCOS healthy lIFeStyle FamIly event ISCOS healthy lIFeStyle FamIly event

ISCOS members, volunteers and staff numbering 
close to 300 took part in the ISCOS Healthy 
Lifestyle Family Event on 23 October 2011. 

Organised in tandem with NTUC FairPrice’s Walk for 
Rice at South East 2011, participants headed down 
to Bedok Reservoir Park where they took part in the 
walk and savoured healthy snacks.

A total of 834km was clocked, which translated 
into a donation of 8,340 bowls of rice by NTUC 
FairPrice to needy residents of South East CDC.

Honorary Secretary of ISCOS, Mr Albert Kong 
attended as Guest-of-Honour. Also present were 
representatives from main sponsor, BGC Group, 

which included Managing Director Mr Tristan Chew, 
his staff and their family members.

Following the walk, some ISCOS members and their 
families engaged in another round of exciting activities 
aimed at further strengthening family relationships.

The satisfaction was evident on the participants’ 
faces as they made their way out of the Reservoir at 
the close of an eventful day complete with exercise, 
family time and community service.

All participants received healthy snacks and 
goodie bags courtesy of Gardenia, Zac Meat, PUB 
NEWater and South East CDC.



22 23

yellOW rIBBOn COmmunIty lunCheOn

sErving tHE EldErly,
giving BaCk to soCiEty

yellOW rIBBOn COmmunIty lunCheOn

ISCOS members together with some volunteers 
spearheaded the Yellow Ribbon Community 
Luncheon on 1 October 2011 at Lions Home for 

the Elderly (Bedok), in collaboration with Prisons  
and SCORE.

Graced by Mr Seah Kian Peng, Member of 
Parliament for Marine Parade GRC, 110 residents 
of the Home were treated to a sumptuous lunch 
prepared by inmates and served by ISCOS members. 
The elderly also enjoyed an afternoon of karaoke and 
games, receiving ang pows and goodie bags along 
the way.

Beyond contributing their time and efforts, ISCOS 
members also donated a sum of $2,500 to Lions 
Home for the Elderly, which was matched dollar-for-
dollar by South East CDC. 

We hope that 
the community will 
recognise the sincerity 
and contributions of 
these ex-offenders, and in 
turn continue to support 
the cause of the Yellow 
Ribbon Project.

“We are glad that this year, ex-offenders are 
taking greater ownership of the Yellow Ribbon 
Community Luncheon. Through this event, we hope 
that the community will recognise the sincerity 
and contributions of these ex-offenders, and in 
turn continue to support the cause of the Yellow 
Ribbon Project, giving second chances to deserving 
ex-offenders,” said Mdm Phang Seok Sieng, ISCOS 
Executive Director (Development).



24 25

CompEting For a good CausE

Fourteen teams from various organisations 
arrived at Sports Planet East Coast to compete 
in the inaugural ISCOS Futsal Challenge  

5-a-side on 12 November 2011. 

Teams from StarHub, Courts, Singapore Anti-
Narcotics Association, Singapore Disability Sports 
Council, Vanda Sports Group, North West CDC, North 
East CDC, Singapore Sports Council, New Creation 
Church, Central Singapore CDC, International 
Financial Services and, of course, ISCOS, went head to 
head in the gruelling tournament that was witnessed 
by our Guest-of-Honour, Mr Zainudin Nordin, 
Member of Parliament for Bishan-Toa Payoh GRC and 
President, Football Association of Singapore.

New Creation Church Team eventually emerged 
on top, beating ISCOS FC 3-2 in the final match. Third 
place went to Bishan Central Team from Central 
Singapore CDC who played against International 
Financial Services FC, while Steven Nguyen Van 
Thuong from New Creation Church took home the 
golden boots award.

“ISCOS believes in utilising sports as a platform 
to help ex-offenders in their reintegration and 
rehabilitation. Through the ISCOS Football Club and 
other sporting activities, our members build positive 
peer relationships, discover their untapped talents 
and learn about discipline, teamwork, endurance 
and positive mindset,” said Ms Freda Tham, ISCOS 
Executive Director (Investment).

Thanks to contributions from the Singapore 
Totalisator Board (Tote Board), Singapore Turf Club, 
Vanda Sports Group and NTUC FairPrice Foundation, 
the fundraising event raised around $50,000 which 
will go towards sustaining ISCOS’ many programmes 
and services. The Yellow Ribbon Project also lent their 
support, sponsoring goodie bag items which were 
distributed to the participants.

ISCOS believes 
in utilising sports as 
a platform to help 
ex-offenders in their 
reintegration and 
rehabilitation. 

ISCOS FutSal Challenge ISCOS FutSal Challenge
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annual gatHEring oF mEmBErs

The 21st ISCOS Annual General Meeting 
was held on 14 May 2011 at Box Hill 
Institute. The event was led by ISCOS 

Chairman, Mr Andy Lim, who emphasised the 
organisation’s achievements over the previous 
year in his address. 

“I am pleased to report that the Co-operative 
has assisted some 2,000 members through 
our Gift of Hope programme, employment 
assistance, book grants and other types of 
assistance,” said Mr Lim.

Also of note was the increase in ISCOS’  
membership by over 12% to 11,241 members in 
2010. The year saw the Co-operative reach out 
to more members, offering training in soft skills 
such as job readiness, financial management 
and stress handling.

26

21st annual general meetIngISCOS-amCham lunCh Panel dISCuSSIOn

Engaging BusinEssEs in
CorporatE pHilantHropy

Hosted by ISCOS and the American Chamber 
of Commerce in Singapore (AmCham), the 
ISCOS-AmCham Lunch Panel Discussion 

saw some 40 senior executives comprising mainly 
AmCham members gather for the event on 12 
October 2011. 

Facilitated by Ms Freda Tham, ISCOS Executive 
Director (Investment) who was also on hand to 
present ISCOS’ numerous programmes and services, 
the discussion aimed to drive corporate engagement 
while turning the spotlight on Corporate Doors – 
an ISCOS initiative that encourages the business 
community to hire ISCOS members.

Guest speakers Ms Elim Chew, Founder  and 
President of 77th Street and Ms Wong Ai Ai, Principal 
of Baker & McKenzie.Wong & Leow shared their 
thoughts on the topic, “How Corporate Philanthropy 
Creates Social Impact, Business Benefits and Investor 
Returns”, during which they highlighted their 
companies’ philanthropic and CSR efforts.  

26
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FlagsHip
programmEs

ChanCeS QuOte

    The 3 C’s of life: 
Choices, 
Chances

and 
Changes. 

You must make a 
choice to take a 

chance or your life 
never change.
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ISCOS GIft Of HOpe ISCOS fOOtBALL CLUB

sustaining rehabilitation
through sports 

welcoming new members
into the community 

Since its formation in 2008, the ISCOS Football 
Club continues to shine on and off the pitch. 
The year 2011 alone saw the team which 

is registered under the Football Association of 
Singapore emerge as champion in Sun League. Over 
the years, the team has built a strong track record.  

These include:

l Sun League 2010/11 – Champion 

l ISCOS Futsal Challenge 2011 – 1st Runner-up

l Fair Play Challenge League 2010 – Champion

l Fair Play Challenge Cup 2010 – 2nd Place

l Dr Maliki’s Cup 2009 – Champion

l Mitra League 9-a-side 2009 – Runner-up

l ESPZEN Corporate Cub 2009 – reached semi-finals

l SACA Soccer Competition 2008 – Champion

l KBC Alumni Futsal 2008 – Champion

l YRP Futsal Competition 2008 – 2nd Place

The team’s success can be attributed to the 
dedication of its members. In spite of their work and 
family commitments, each of the team’s 25 players 
remain firmly committed, religiously attending the 
weekly practices and competition line-ups. 

Proudly donning their ISCOS jerseys at each 
game, they embody the spirit of unity and friendship, 
in a testimony to the effectiveness of sports in 
rehabilitating ex-inmates and bringing about the 
positive character development. 

“I’m very glad to see our boys improve over the 
last few years. They give their best in every game, 
whether it is just a friendly match or in a formal 
league,” said Volunteer Head Coach Fajry. 

Beyond the sport, the players also benefit from  
interacting with the numerous volunteers and 
mentors who actively support the ISCOS FC.

Gift of Hope is a relief package given to 
new ISCOS members. Worth around $50, 
it contains basic necessities like a NETS 

FlashPay Card, food and grocery vouchers and other 
items. Conceived to help meet their basic needs 
upon release from prison, it also serves as a welcome 
gift as they take the first crucial steps towards  
new beginnings.  

Since its launch in 2008, $134,500 worth of Gift of 
Hope packages have been distributed, benefiting 2,690 

30

ex-offenders who rejoined society during this time. 

NETS CEO, Mr Jeffrey Goh, who is himself an 
active Prison volunteer said, "We are delighted to be 
a part of the ISCOS Gift of Hope project. How often 
do we ourselves wish for a second chance? Here is 
our opportunity to give one to the very people who 
need it most, and help them rebuild their lives. We 
hope that the NETS FlashPay card will make their first 
steps easier whether it's paying for their bus or MRT 
ride home or buying a meal without worry."
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ISCOS SKILLS ASSIStANCe SUBSIDY SCHeMe ISCOS SMS prOjeCt

touching the heartstrings
enhancing skills For
better career prospects

Through the generous sponsorship of 
the Lee Foundation, the ISCOS Skills 
Assistance Subsidy Scheme (SASS) provides  

opportunities for members to undergo short-term 
skills training at subsidised rates, thus upgrading 
their skill sets and increasing their employability. 

Since inception in 2010, a total of 125 ISCOS 
members have been approved for SASS as of end-
December 2011. Common courses taken by members 
include WSQ Forklift without Class 3 Driving Course, 
Building and Construction Supervisor Safety Course 
and the Class 4 Driving Licence. 

Armed with a new certificate or licence, members 
are in a better position to secure jobs, while those 
who are already employed can look forward to better 
career prospects and enhanced earning potentials to 
sustain themselves and their families. 

Illustrating the success of SASS is Bahari (not his 
real name). When he was released from prison in May 
2011, he had only a Secondary 3 education. Finding 
a job was a big challenge, especially in a highly 
competitive job market. The Scheme enabled Bahari 
to enrol in the WSQ Forklift Driving Course where 
he learnt to operate a forklift and value add to his 
employer. Upon completing his course in November 

2011, he was promoted to Forklift Operator and 
received a better pay package.

Says Mdm Phang Seok Sieng, ISCOS Executive 
Director (Development), “SASS is a useful programme 
which allows members to pursue their skills in areas 
of interest and which will enhance their employability 
and career prospects. I am hopeful that more 
members will be motivated to upgrade themselves 
and remain gainfully employed.”

Launched in 2010 through the generous funding 
of the Lee Foundation, the SMS Project serves as 
both a helpline and a platform to send inspiring 

messages, updates on events and workshops as 
well as job openings to ISCOS members. Since its 
beginnings, the project has gained ground, recording 
2,725 registered subscribers as at December 2011. 

In 2011, it was expanded to include health care 
tips and general knowledge which took the form 
of the “Did You Know” quiz, thanks to the kind 
sponsorship from Secret Recipe and Laksania. 

Its growing popularity can be attributed to the 
fact that it goes beyond motivating members to 
fulfilling a basic need to belong.

As Ms Freda Tham, ISCOS Executive Director 
(Investment), described, “We all have our own circle 
of friends who encourage us during tough times. But 
for an ex-offender, it means the world knowing that 
someone believes in and continues to inspire him.” 

Feedback From members:

“Excellent! It’s helpful. Keep up the good work. 
Thanks.”  - Ho Mun Seong 

“It’s great!! Looking forward to this daily.”   
- Mohd Noh B Md Sultan 

“The quotes are fantastic. Please send me more.”  
- Mohd Saleem Bava Mohideen 

“I like the messages that ISCOS sends me. They 
are very useful for me and my family. As an 
ex-convict, the proverbs give me a lot of moral 
support and encouragement.”   
- Firzuan B Mohd Noor 

“Your SMS service – well done! Keep it up.”   
- Kamir B Kayat

SMS REACH (Jan-Dec 2011)
Inspirational Quotes - 122,294  

Did You Know Quiz - 84,518 

Job Opportunities - 20,934

Year Approved Cases Completed Course Dropped Out Attending Ongoing Course

2011 84 44 5 35

2012 (Q1) 23 5 0 20

SASS Preferred Courses (Jan-March 2012)

COURSE # APPLICANTS

Forklift w/o Class 3 7

Class 3 3

Tower Crane 3

Building and Construction 
Supervisor Safety 3

SignalMen & Riggers 2

Class 2B 1

Pleasure Craft License 1

Forklift with Class 3 1

Class 4 1

Instructor Cert in Teaching 
Phonics and Phonetics 1

Total 23

I like the messages 
that ISCOS sends me. 
They are very useful 
for me and my family. 
As an ex-convict, the 
proverbs give me a lot 
of moral support and 
encouragement.
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ISCOS fAIrY GODpAreNt prOGrAMMe ISCOS fAIrY GODpAreNt prOGrAMMe

partnering the community
to beneFit children

Launched in 2006, the Fairy Godparent 
Programme (FGP) is an ISCOS initiative set 
up to provide educational, mentoring and 

enrichment support to ISCOS members’ children. 

The success of FGP is greatly attributed to the 
generous sponsors and dedicated volunteers who 
have taken a great interest in developing these 
youths for a brighter future ahead. Over the past 
year, several organisations teamed up with ISCOS to 
extend their assistance and support.

REACH Community Services, in particular, 
graciously sponsored $50,000 worth of bursaries for 
students in primary, secondary and tertiary education, 
who used the financial award ranging from $300 to 
$500 for their various school needs. In addition, the 
beneficiaries were assigned one volunteer mentor 
under the new REACH-ISCOS Mentoring Programme 
in an effort to befriend and encourage them.

Another key partner is Baker & McKenzie.Wong & 
Leow (BMWL), who has been significantly involved 

in several ISCOS initiatives. The firm sponsored the 
inaugural Tuition Bursary in 2011 which benefitted 
10 students, and extended the scheme to a new 
batch of 12 recipients in 2012. The Tuition Bursary 
also includes mentoring, where lawyers and staff 
of BMWL are assigned to befriend the children and 
inspire them to do better in school.

BMWL also organised other mentor-mentee 
bonding activities, and was our key partner at 
the ISCOS-BMWL Children’s Day event which was 
attended by around 120 children and also received 
support from Underwater World Singapore.

New Creation Church is another valued partner. 
Over the past year, they have worked closely with 
ISCOS on a series of quarterly enrichment workshops 
known as Precious Gems. The activities included 
Games Day, Art Appreciation, Outdoor Adventure and 
a Christmas Party. A total of 55 FGP children attended 
the sessions, which were entirely planned and 
organised by volunteers from New  Creation Church.

Students from National University of Singapore 
also played a key role in FGP. They led the Brain  
Booster – Memory Skills & Team Building Workshop 
where 18 children were taught mnemonic 
techniques through storytelling and mind mapping. 

Other contributors under FGP include M1, which 
sponsored two Movie Outings for 43 children as 
an encouragement after the exam period, and 
The Point Optical, which graciously donated up to 
$12,000 worth of spectacles for FGP kids.
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new
initiatives

ISCOS-BMWL tUItION BUrSArY

Now into its second year, the first ever 
Tuition Bursary in ISCOS sponsored by 
Baker & McKenzie.Wong & Leow (BMWL) 

helps to guide the future of members’ children by 
providing them with mentors from the company  
and professional tuition. 

Since its launch in 2011, 22 children have 
benefitted from the initiative, including 12 primary 
school students who are currently receiving tuition in 
English and Mathematics at Kip McGrath Education 
Centres. Each of them has been assigned mentors 
who go out of their way to encourage the students 
to do well in their studies and raise their self-esteem.

Already, the first batch of bursary recipients have 
shown improvements in their school performances. 
Saparinah, whose daughter, Siti Aishah, is one of the 
beneficiaries, said, “The tuition has been a good help 
to my daughter. Without it, she would not be able to 
get good grades.” 

Added Haidah, another mother, “We are very 
thankful for the Tuition Bursary. Syuhahdah, my 

boosting academic results
through guided learning

youngest child was able to get the help that my other 
children didn’t have. Because of this, she is doing 
much better in school and is more confident. We are 
also very thankful to her mentors, Lynette and Usha, 
for their encouragement, tips and the books they 
have given to her.”

The tuition has 
been a good help 
to my daughter. 
Without it, she would 
not be able to get 
good grades.
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Newly released ex-offenders face many 
issues reintegrating into the community. 
These include adjustment problems living 

with their families, getting a job, reconciling with 
their spouses or children and many others.  Often 
times, they feel alone in their struggles, and having 
a support group where they can discuss their 
problems with individuals in similar situations can 
offer a huge relief.  

Addressing this need, ISCOS launched the 
Support Group initiative in August 2011. Here, ex-
offenders receive both emotional and practical 
support from each other, while exchanging ideas to 
resolve problems. Generally, members discuss issues 
affecting their transition such as time management, 
coping with general challenges, building a 

ChaNgINg MINdsets through 
PosItIve grouP INteraCtIoNs

responsible and trustworthy self and addiction, 
among others.

Guided by trained ISCOS staff, the sessions are 
usually co-facilitated by volunteers and reformed 
members. Through these sessions, we also extend 
specific assistance to the participants through 
existing programmes, or link them up with other 
agencies when needed. 

By end-2011, close to 60 ISCOS members 
have participated in the Support Group, while 
about 200 more are expected to benefit from this 
initiative by end-2012. To accommodate varying 
needs, the sessions are split between adults and 
youths, where up to 12 attendees will engage each 
other as a group. 

ISCOS MENTORING PROGRAMMEISCOS SuPPORT GROuP

eNsurINg a sustaININg rehabIlItatIoN 
for Youth offeNders

Launched in August 2011, the ISCOS Mentoring 
Programme ensures that young offenders 
and Reformative Trainees (RTs) who have very 

little or no familial support receive the guidance  
they need. 

Under the scheme, these young offenders are 
matched with a caring volunteer who will engage, 
befriend and mentor them positively. The interaction 
between mentor and mentee begins about six 
months before the RTs are released from prison, and 
involve letter writing as well as face-to-face visits 
between RT and Mentor.

During the post-release or aftercare phase, the 
mentors and RTs are encouraged to meet up on 
a monthly basis for a period of about 12 months. 
Mentees also receive additional support in the form 
of support group sessions, enrichment workshops 
and social gatherings which they attend with  
their mentors. “The ultimate goal is to sustain the RT’s 

rehabilitation and minimise re-offending,” said Mdm 
Phang Seok Sieng, Executive Director (Development).

At the close of 2011, a total of 17 mentees had 
come under the programme while about 100 RTs are 
expected to benefit from it by end-2012. 

Said Dr Fong Khai Seck, Chief Executive of Rainbow 
Industries Pte Ltd and one of the programme’s 
volunteer mentors, “The Mentoring Programme is 
a meaningful initiative and I’m glad to be able to 
make a difference to my mentee as he pieces his life 
together after incarceration.” 

The ultimate goal 
is to sustain the RT’s 
rehabilitation and 
minimise re-offending.
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ISCOS SOfT SkIllS TRAINING

PreParINg our Youths
for a better futureequIPPINg MeMbers for  

the road ahead

In their inaugural collaboration, both ISCOS and 
REACH Community Services Society (RCSS) joined 
forces to award bursaries to ISCOS members’ 

children and REACH beneficiaries, thereby reducing 
their school-related expenses.

At the award ceremony held on 3 December 2011 
at Bishan Community Club, Guest-of-Honour Rev. Dr 
David Lim, Senior Pastor of Grace Assembly of God 
handed out cheques of $300 to $500 to 167 students 
from primary, secondary and tertiary institutions. 
Around $50,000 worth of bursaries was distributed 
to the students. 

The same event also witnessed the launch of the 
REACH-ISCOS Mentoring Programme, under which 
beneficiaries will be attached to volunteer mentors 
who will visit them regularly, extending a hand of 
friendship and inspiring hope among the children.

Ms Ng Ai Ling, REACH Executive Director said, “We 
are glad to partner with ISCOS to extend our bursaries 
to the children of ISCOS members and launch the 

REACH-ISCOS Mentoring Programme.  It is a strategic 
partnership where we leverage on the support ISCOS 
renders to its members, and now, extends care and 
encouragement towards their children.   It is a new 
pilot project and we will continue to work closely 
with ISCOS to review the progress of the programme.” 

REACH-ISCOS BuRSARY AND MENTORING PROGRAMME 

Aimed at raising our members’ receptivity 
towards honing their soft skills and to 
sustain their long-term employment in the 

community, ISCOS launched Soft Skills Training in 
early 2011 with support from the Lee Foundation. 

The training consists of the following main modules, 
namely, Effective Stress Management, Job Readiness, 
and Effective Budgeting and Saving, which prepare 
the participants for job interviews and inculcated right 
mindset towards work demands and expectations. 
They also teach participants to understand and 
manage stress as they face real-life challenges, and 
equip them in managing their income effectively. 

The initial test-run of the project was conducted 
at two locations – Pertapis Halfway House and The 
Helping Hand  – and involved a total of 47 residents 
who were also ISCOS members. Learning from this, 
improvements were made to the modules and Soft 
Skills Training was launched officially in July 2011. 
By the end of the same year, 172 ISCOS members 
had gone through the programme.

Mr Elvis Overee, ISCOS Member Services 
Manager said, “It’s very heartening to see so many 
members attending the course, determined to turn 
their lives around. It spurs us on to do our very best 
to help them and their families.”

Course tItLe JAN-MARCH 2012

Effective Stress Management 91

Job Readiness 61

Effective Personal Budgeting and Saving 88

It’s very 
heartening to see 
so many members 
attending the course, 
determined to turn 
their lives around. 

41
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MeMber
features

ISCOS RuNfREE CluB

buIldINg stroNger boNds
through ruNNINg

recognising the growing number of running 
enthusiasts among members and volunteers, 
ISCOS launched the RUNFREE Club in June 

2011. The Club provides support, motivation and 
encouragement to members through running, while 
fostering bonds and friendship among members, 
volunteers and invited community members.

“The club’s name, ‘RUNFREE’, connotes the 
freedom of space and choice which members can 
appreciate and value in being a free member of the 
community,” said Mdm Phang Seok Sieng, ISCOS 
Executive Director (Development).

Tapping mainly on the Health Promotion Board’s 
resources, the Club now has 20 registered runners 
and organises weekly scheduled runs along the 
Singapore River.  

The club’s name, 
‘RUNFREE’, connotes the 
freedom of space and 
choice which members 
can appreciate and value 
in being a free member 
of the community.
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While most teenagers his age would be out 
with friends or enjoying time with family, 
Fazil (not his real name) was serving time 

behind bars at the Reformative Training Centre (RTC) 
for burglary.

His mother had passed 
away when he was only a year 
old. Left to his own devices as 
a teenager, he found solace 
among his new-found gang 
members. He joined them in 
housebreaking sprees until he 
was caught at the age of 17 
and sentenced to 22 months  
at RTC.

“Being in prison knocked some sense into me. I 
made a decision to change for the better before my 
life got worse,” Fazil said.

He learnt about the ISCOS Mentoring Programme 
for youth offenders from his supervisor in Prison 
who encouraged him to sign up. He did so and was 
delighted to receive letters from his mentor, who 
expressed eagerness to meet him and asked about 
his well-being. 

“It was the first time someone was deeply 
interested in knowing me personally,” he said. 

The exchange of letters progressed with his 
mentor taking the time to visit him in prison, showing 
him sincere concern and giving him good advice. 

MeMber feature: aMran MeMber feature: fazil

At 45, Muhammed Amran had been in and out 
of jail for 14 times on drug-related offences.  
Influenced by bad company, he began taking 

drugs at an early age and was first imprisoned when 
he was just 17. 

Divorced with a young son, he had been working 
on and off in the logistics industry in between jail 
terms. Thus, when his last sentence ended in July 
2011, he returned to the sector again. This time, bent 
on staying clean, he resolved to stay in the logistics 
company where he was employed as a temporary 
staff with an income of at least $1,100 per month. 
However, in order to acquire a permanent position, 
he knew he needed to be re-skilled and certified. 

On his own accord, he approached ISCOS for 
assistance, and applied for the Skills Assistance 
Subsidy Scheme (SASS). ISCOS sponsored nearly 
$500 for his Forklift (Without Class 3 License) course, 
leaving Amran with only a minimal fee to cover. 

Determined to complete the course, he even 
applied for unpaid leave for one week. This act of 
commitment and his initiative together with his 
new certificate earned favour with his supervisor, 
who recommended Amran to be converted to a 
permanent staff in April 2012. With this move, Amran 
received a higher income of more than $1,300  
per month. 

An ISCOS member since 1993, Amran’s family 
has also benefitted from his membership. Under the  
ISCOS Book Grant Programme launched in 1994,  

IsCOs MeMber baCk On 
the rIght traCk

his son who was then in 
Primary 3 received annual 
monetary support for his 
education until he completed 
his Secondary 4 education.

Today, Amran’s son has 
completed his Diploma in 
Accounting course and will 
soon be entering National Service. His father is very 
proud that he has chosen a positive path in life. “The 
assistance given by ISCOS to my son for the seven 
years was a great help,” says Amran. 

During the periods when Amran was serving time 
in jail, his family would regularly receive letters from 
ISCOS containing updates on various programmes 
and services. Amran was deeply appreciative of the 
efforts of the Co-op to reach out to him on a regular 
basis, and somewhat relieved knowing that his family 
could continue to tap on our initiatives. 

The assistance 
given by ISCOS 
to my son for the 
seven years was a 
great help.

“My MentOr, My InspIratIOn”

“My mentor is a very humble and down-to-earth 
person who is very patient whenever we meet up to  
talk,” he said.

When Fazil was released, he lived with his aunt 
and found a job as a waiter. His mentor continued to 
meet up with him, providing vital encouragement 
and moral support. It was during one of his mentor’s 
visits that he learned he was in fact Dr Fong Khai 
Seck, Chief Executive of Rainbow Industries Pte Ltd. 

“He is a very busy man yet was willing to give 
me his time and a listening ear. I am very lucky to 
have such a caring and fatherly mentor,” Fazil said of 
Dr. Fong who played a key role in his reintegration. 
“I don’t think my life has been the same again after 
meeting Dr Fong. I want to thank him for he has been 
my guiding light.”

I don’t think 
my life has been the 
same again after 
meeting Dr Fong. I 
want to thank him 
for he has been my 
guiding light.
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MeMber feature: Harry

rIsIng tO the Challenge 
wIth IsCOs’ suppOrt

Harry (not his real name) has spent a total of 
10 years of his life in jail. Now 43, he firmly 
believes that “a strong family foundation 

is very important”. He speaks from experience. His 
parents divorced when he was very young and his 
relationship with his father became strained. As the 
sole breadwinner, his mother worked hard to ensure 
Harry and his two younger sisters were provided for.

With his difficult family background, Harry found 
his place among secret society members. At age 15 
he experienced his first brush with the law for theft. 
Despite receiving a warning and given a chance, he  
repeated the offence. He was caught and sentenced 
to three years behind bars. This was later followed 
by more time in prison for drug and gang-related 
offences. His last sentence lasted five years with him 
being released in December 2010.

“I will never forget my mother’s tears when she 
visited me in prison. She is my motivation for staying 
clean this time around,” says Harry. Determined to 
put his past behind him, Harry completed his “O” 
Level examinations while in prison and renounced 
his gang affiliations. 

As resolute as he was, Harry recognised that 
he needed help. “In jail, I heard other inmates talk 
about ISCOS’ programmes. When I was released, 
I immediately went to the ISCOS office to sign up as 
a member,” he added. Harry was given immediate 
assistance through the Gift of Hope, an initial relief 
package given to new members upon their release 
from prison. 

In order to stay away from his former gang, he 

worked in his brother-in-law’s bicycle shop for nine 
months, earning a meager salary of $1,000.

“I knew that to get a more stable job, I had  
to upgrade myself. I heard that construction safety 
work pays well, so I enrolled for Building and 
Construction Supervisor Safety Course through 
the ISCOS Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme (SASS),”  
he said.

Completing the course enabled Harry to join a 
scaffolding company where he was hired as a Site 
Coordinator with a better monthly income of $2,500. 
“I’m eyeing the supervisory position next in this 
company and I deeply thank ISCOS for opening up 
this opportunity for me through SASS,” he added. 

Grateful for the support 
given to him, Harry now 
gives back to the community 
through the ISCOS Motivators 
Programme, where he 
joins other reformed ISCOS 
members in sharing their life 
stories at school talks and 
other speaking engagements. 

I knew that 
to get a more 
stable job, I had to 
upgrade myself. 

VOlunteer
hIghlIghts
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ISCOS AppreCIAtIOn DInner ISCOS AppreCIAtIOn DInner

Over 100 volunteers and corporate partners 
gathered at Spaboutique for the ISCOS 
Appreciation Dinner on 4 November 

2011, appropriately dressed in Caribbean-inspired 
costumes. The evening featured awards and 
recognitions, games, lucky draw prizes, best dressed 
awards, video presentations and band performances, 
alongside a sumptuous spread.

Acknowledging the commitment, dedication and 
hard work of our volunteers as well as the invaluable 
contributions from donors and corporate partners, 
ISCOS Chairman, Mr Andy Lim, took the opportunity 
to thank all the guests for their unwavering support 
to the organisation. 

Contributing greatly to the event’s success 
were our generous partners, namely, Spaboutique, 
StarHub, Epi Treatz, Onaka, The Point Optical, 

recognising our 
partners & Volunteers

Programme Sponsors – Organisations who 
supported specific initiatives or events

1. The Lee Foundation
2. REACH Community Services Society
3. Baker & McKenzie.Wong & Leow
4. NETS
5. Vanda Sports Group
6. New Creation Church 
7.The Point Optical
8. Society of Kalai Pithers and Mr V Punithan

‘Friends of ISCOS’ – Companies and individuals 
who donated a minimum of $5,000 in support for 
our programmes and services

1. ExxonMobil Asia Pacific 
2. Esun International 
3. Home United Football Club 
4. Pin Corporation 
5. Singapore Civil Defence Force 

Star Award Recipients – Volunteers who took on 
at least one leadership role or volunteered in three 
or more events or projects from November 2010 to 
October 2011

1. Trevor Woo Kok Leong 
2. Wang Hup Ngee Henry 
3. Chrestella Setiyadi 
4. Vivienne Lim 
5. Sarah Salim 
6. Daryl Lee 

Asiawide Franchise Consultants, Underwater World 
Singapore, Secret Recipe, Seagate, Frolick and  
Mr Bean.
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subsidiary  
& affiliate

VOlunteer FeAture – IAn MullAne

As the CEO of Vanda Sports Group, a sports 
marketing agency in Singapore, while 
managing a stable of other companies, Ian 

Mullane’s schedule is packed with business meetings, 
overseas trips and family commitments. 

However when ISCOS approached him in 2011 
for professional advice on event management 
and fundraising initiatives, he not only offered his 
services but gamely took his involvement several 
steps further. He signed up as a volunteer for the 
ISCOS Support Group and Mentoring Programmes, 
employed one ISCOS member and opened up his 
boxing club facilities to young ISCOS members with 
the aim of developing their interest in the sport. 

Explaining his passion for the organisation’s 
work, Ian said, “I felt the organisational approach 
and services provided by ISCOS were strong and the 
vision of the organisation was aligned with my view 
on rehabilitation.” 

One of the support groups where he volunteered 
as a co-facilitator opened his eyes to the difficulties 
members face in finding employment due to their past 

records. “I could see one individual 
who had the personality and 

communication skills to 
progress further than where 
he currently was. We had a 
few discussions and he came 
over to work for one of our 
companies. His performance 

was excellent and he fulfilled 
his commitments over and 

above,” shared Ian. 

Ian took it upon himself to mentor this new staff, 
who became all the more motivated to do better. 
When he expressed a desire to return to full-time 
education, Ian’s company sponsored him.

“The challenges members have are often a lot more 
complex than their original offence. Socio-economic 
factors are often very complicated and it is not as 
simple as reform through punishment. The necessity 
to provide motivation, structure and assistance is 
imperative,” said Ian, who is also mentoring a youth 
offender due for release soon. The programme 
involves letter writing and face-to-face prison visits, 
followed by fortnightly meet-ups with his mentee 
once he is on Release-on-Supervision scheme. 

“The best things about volunteering are learning 
about other people, understanding someone else’s 
challenges and being able in a small way to help 
them get back on their feet.” 

As for his boxing club, 15 ISCOS members have 
since tried out while four are in constant training.

“ISCOS members realised the commitment 
necessary to participate in the sport. It demands 
holistically that your lifestyle be as healthy as possible. 
Members have also learnt that to box well you must 
have full emotional control and self-awareness.”

Ian’s clear passion for developing people has been 
amplified by his volunteer experience with ISCOS. He 
flourishes in environments where he is able to work with 
youth and assist them in improving their self-esteem 
and social skills. And it shows. For the past year, his work 
with ISCOS has been nothing short of life-changing.

50

oVerflowing kindness
from the heart
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Mister Clean Pte ltd ConneCt Centre Pte ltd

Upon inception in November 2004, Connect 
Centre became the first call centre in 
Southeast Asia to operate within prison 

grounds. Specialising in a selection of services, the 
Centre offers:

l Customer Service Support
l Admin Support
l Technical Support
l Telesales
l Appointment Fixing and Confirmation
l Loyalty Programmes
l Product Helpdesk

Ensuring that Connect Centre is well-equipped 
to meet each client’s unique requirements, inmates 
undergo extensive skills training in customer 
service, telephone ethics and conversational skills. 
While providing critical support to corporate 
and government bodies around Singapore, such 
work exposure opens the door to greater career 
opportunities upon their release from prison. 

Today, Connect Centre services a wide variety 
of clients from diverse industries including logistics, 
telecommunications, hospitals, statutory boards, 
transport and commercial enterprises. In recognition of 
its achievements in service excellence, the Centre has 
received several awards and accolades, demonstrating 
that inmates can consistently exceed customer 
expectations and deliver returns to their clients. 

Spurred on by its success, Connect Centre set up 
another operation in 2009 outside the prison which 
hires ex-offenders upon their release. Such seamless 
employment has been vital in transforming the lives 
of many former inmates.

By engaging Connect Centre for inbound and 
outbound call needs, companies play a significant 
role in giving inmates and ex-offenders a second 
chance in life. For more information or business 
opportunities, please visit www.connectcentre.sg 
or call 6304 5300.

Mister Clean is a subsidiary of ISCOS 
established in 1991 with the objective 
of providing ex-offenders and other 

disadvantaged people with gainful employment and 
on-the-job training. 

The company specialises in providing a 
comprehensive selection of cleaning and 
maintenance services to meet each clients’ needs. 
Today, it has served a wide range of clientele 
including food courts, bus interchanges and depots, 
factories, office buildings and condominiums.

One of its biggest clients is SBS Transit, a leading 
bus and rail operator in Singapore, has entrusted 
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CCAS Contact Center Award 2011
l Judges Mention, Individual

Contact Centre World Awards 2009
l World Best Outsourced Partnership Award (Gold)
l World Leader Award (Silver)
l World Community Spirit (Bronze)

Contact Centre World APAC Awards 2009
l Gold Medal: Best Leader Awards
l Gold Medal: Best Outsourced Partnership
l Gold Medal: Best Community Spirit

Asia Pacific Customer Service Recognition of  
Excellence 2008
l Best Outsourced Call Centre Award
l Best Corporate Social Responsibilities Award
l Best Customer Service Representatives Award

Asia Pacific Customer Service Recognition of 
Excellence 2007
l Best Outsourced Call Centre Award
l Best Corporate Social Responsibilities Award

CCAS Contact Centre Award 2006
l Singapore Best Outsourced Awards 
       – Gold Award
l Regional Best Outsourced Awards 
       – Gold Award
l Best Team Leader of the Year 

Mister Clean with the maintenance of the company’s 
entire fleet of buses.

“As a social enterprise, profits generated by Mister 
Clean are channelled back to ISCOS to support 
the social programmes of the Co-operative. By 
employing Mister Clean’s services, companies are 
providing productive employment for ex-offenders 
while ensuring that many others like them receive 
a second chance in life,” said Ms Freda Tham, ISCOS 
Executive Director (Investment).

For more information about Mister Clean’s 
services, please visit www.mister.com.sg or  
call 6747 4911. 

giving Second chanceS
through employment

equipping offenderS with
cuStomer-handling SkillS
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aCknowledgeMent

SponSorS  
& partnerS

Mr Seah was appointed as ISCOS Ambassador since 2006.  

He rose from humble beginnings to become a  

successful businessman in Singapore.  

He is Chairman of several companies like  

Esun International Pte Ltd, Green World Management Pte Ltd, 

Cape View Pte Ltd, Newtrace Links Pte Ltd, Himetal Enterprise Pte Ltd 

and Green World China (Singapore) Pte Ltd. 

Mr Seah helped to raise $240,000 for the Gift of Hope 

project when it was launched in 2008, and has been 

supporting ISCOS in various fundraising efforts. He 

also serves as patron of several grassroots and 

community organisations.  

Our ISCOS Ambassador is a shining example of  

what one can achieve in life with perseverance  

and dedication, and he continues to be an  

inspiration to members.
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the printing of thiS annual report 
iS generouSly SponSored by

 mr Seah hock thiam
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‘Friends oF iscos’ iscos corporate doors

opening More DoorS
for ex-offenDerS

Donating towarDS
a gooD CauSe

With the many programmes and events that 
ISCOS runs each year, there is a continual 
need for funds. ‘Friends of ISCOS’ (FOI) is 

one of our fund raising initiatives where generous 
companies and individuals contribute a minimum 
of $5,000 each which go towards our numerous 
rehabilitation and reintegration programmes. 

Supporters of FOI are a community of socially 
responsible firms and philanthropists willing to 
extend a second chance to ex-offenders as they 
embark on their reintegration journey.

One such company is ExxonMobil Asia 
Pacific. As part of its corporate philanthropy, the 
organisation made a contribution of $10,000. Mr Loh  
Pin-Chuan, Public and Government Affairs Manager 
at ExxonMobil, said, "We are glad for the opportunity 
to contribute to ISCOS. At ExxonMobil, we strive to 
make a positive difference to the communities we 
operate in and we hope that our support will make a 
difference to ISCOS members."

Echoing similar sentiments was COL Chong 
Hoi Hung, Senior Director (Corporate Services) of 
Singapore Civil Defence Force – another of FOI’s 

contributors. Commenting on the organisation’s 
philanthropic donation to ISCOS, he said, “We hope 
that our contribution will benefit the members and 
their families.”

Other companies like Pin Corporation opt to 
expand their aid beyond monetary donations. The 
long-time supporter of ISCOS also offers employment 
opportunities to ISCOS members in addition to 
financial support through FOI. “We would like to help 
in any way possible,” said Mr Liew Yew Fah, Managing 
Director of Pin Corporation. 

We strive to make 
a positive difference to 
the communities we 
operate in and we hope 
that our support will 
make a difference to 
ISCOS members.

With every employer 
that comes on board, we 
move one step closer  
towards removing the 
social prejudice against 
ex-offenders.

One of the most challenging situations for 
ex-offenders is their re-entry into the labour 
market. Aimed at assisting ISCOS members 

in regaining their economic independence, we 
launched Corporate Doors in 2009. The initiative 
continually engages and encourages employers 
from various industries and sectors to hire at least 
one ISCOS member. To date, over 100 employers are 
registered in the Corporate Doors database. 

In 2011, the 148 ISCOS members seeking 
employment assistance were matched with job 
interviews and placements through Corporate 
Doors, or sent for skills training under the ISCOS 
Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme to boost  
their employability. 

 
“With every employer that comes on board, we 

move one step closer towards removing the social 
prejudice against ex-offenders. We hope more 
employers will give our members a second chance 
in life and offer them the valued opportunity to be 

part of their company,” said Ms Freda Tham, ISCOS 
Executive Director (Investment).

In addition to Corporate Doors, we regularly 
collaborate with SCORE and other industry and 
community partners who conduct job fairs and other 
employment-related workshops, further enhancing 
our members’ employment opportunities and 
visibility in the workforce.
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company Feature - the shelter company sponsors & partners 2011

foStering the right  
environMent for Change

our heartfelt thankS to
iSCoS benefaCtorS

When ISCOS introduced Corporate Doors 
initiative to The Shelter Company, they were 
asked to hire at least one ISCOS member. 

Instead the company employed five members, sent 
them all for training and has plans to employ even more. 

A construction and engineering company special-
ising in the design and assembly of  pre-engineered 
structures, The Shelter Company is not concerned 
about criminal records when employing staff. “I believe 
that when given the right environment, ex-offenders will 
flourish,” said Mr Samuel Vedanaigam, Managing Director.

Motivated to nurture and retain local talents in 
Singapore, Samuel believes that ISCOS members will 
prove themselves once they have the right training. 
“By equipping them with the right skills, they can 
become qualified technicians, capable of eventually 
achieving the ranks of senior staff, supervisor and 
even manager,” he adds.

Despite his hectic schedule, Samuel takes the 
time to get to know his ISCOS hires, often giving 
them advice on work and personal issues. He 
encourages open lines of communication, allowing 
them to raise their concerns at any time. Hoping to 
deter them from returning to their old ways, Samuel 
often reminds them to value the opportunity given 
by the society. 

The Shelter Company is a model company in 
the journey towards an ex-offender’s effective 
rehabilitation and reintegration. With the continued 
support from more employers like Samuel, ISCOS 
members will increasingly be able to prove 
themselves as useful members of society and worthy 
of the community’s trust.

 “Some of them have families, too. Whatever we 
can do for them goes a long way to supporting them 
and their families,” he concluded.

MajOr SpOnSOrS
LEE Foundation
REACH Community Services Society
Baker & McKenzie.Wong & Leow
Temasek
Network for Electronic Transfers (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Tote Board / Singapore Turf Club
New Creation Church
Underwater World Singapore Pte Ltd

Other partnerS
Albert Kong
Alvin Goh
American Chamber of Commerce in Singapore
Andrew Chow
Ashram Halfway House
Augment International Pte Ltd
Bcreative Pro
BGC Group Pte Ltd
Box Hill Institute Singapore Pte Ltd
CARE Network
Central Singapore CDC
Courts (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Crecept Pte Ltd
Epi Treatz Pte Ltd
First Media Design School
Football Association of Singapore
Frolick
Gardenia Foods (S) Pte Ltd

Green Haven Halfway House
Highpoint Community Services Association
International Financial Services (S) Pte Ltd
iTutor International Pte Ltd
Jamiyah Halfway House
Kent Ridge Tutors Pte Ltd
Kip McGrath Education Centres
Laksania (Spice Connect Pte Ltd)
M1 Limited
Moriah Productions
National Volunteer & Philanthropy Centre
North East CDC
North West CDC
NTUC FairPrice Foundation
Onaka Pte Ltd
Paya Lebar Kovan Dragon Boat Team
Pertapis Halfway House
Potato Productions
PUB NEWater
SCORE
Seagate Technology International
Secret Recipe Café Pte Ltd
Singapore Anti-Narcotics Association
Singapore Disability Sports Council
Singapore Sports Council
Society of Kalai Pithers
South East CDC
Spaboutique Pte Ltd
StarHub Ltd
StrategiCom Pte Ltd
Super Bean International Pte Ltd
Teen Challenge
The Patatas
The Point Optical
The Salvation Army
Yellow Ribbon Project
V Punithan
Vanda Sports Group Pte Ltd
Vernon Khoo
Zac Meat & Poultry Pte Ltd

‘FriendS OF iSCOS’
Esun International Pte Ltd
ExxonMobil Asia Pacific Pte Ltd
Singapore Civil Defence Force
AUPE Multi-Purpose Co-operative  Ltd
Home United Football Club
Pin Corporation Pte Ltd
Ernst & Young LLP
SBS Transit Ltd 
The Helping Hand
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volunteers 2011 volunteers 2011

Abdul Razak Bin Mohamed 
Adair Ngo
Allison Cheng
Andrew Chow
Ang Hsuen Ling Celeste
Ang Kai Hsiang 
Angela Ong Mei Wen
Azhari Alwie
Benjamin Tea Fu Wah 
Cheang Yu Tong Ashley 
Chen Yifang 
Chin Hwee Chyi Adeline 
Chin Jen Ning, Andrew
Ching Thiam Seng 
Chittebabu Masilamony
Choo Hua Long Joseph
Choo Wan Ning, Emily 
Chrestella Setiyadi
Christine Clare Oh Phaik Khoon
Christine Tan Thye Mei 
Chriswayne 
Chua Poh Suan
Claire Lee
Clement Yong Hong Kit 
Constance Ong 
Daniel Chee Han Keong
Darren Wang
Daryl Lee Chin Hsiung
Dr Fong Khai Seck 
Eddie Ng Siew Wai
Edmund Elias Ng Eng Hing
Eevin Zhang
Eugene Teo 
Eunice Chen 
Fenni
Fenru
Francis Liou Heng Wah
Gayle Tan 

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38

39
40
41
42
43

44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75

Gian Yen Shong
Gururaj S/O Thulesiram 
Haryati Binte Jufri 
Hazeena Begum 
Helen Thamari D/O  
Peter Dorairaj
Henry Wang Hup Ngee
Hindran
Ho Ann Yi 
Ian Mullane
Ibrahim Ariff
Jahara Binte Haron 
Jasni Jamil
Jason Ling Xiaowei
Jennifer Fong 
Jessica Logan 
Jessica Tan 
Joanne Chew 
Josephine Mok
Joyce Pang 
Julia Khoo Mei Ling 
Jumat Bin Tawil 
K Kavitha
Kan Zhi Xiang
Kannan Renganathan Usha 
Karen Choh 
Kasthuri D/O Sayakobe
Kathleen Khong 
Kenley Go
Khairulniza Binte Saady 
Khamsiah Yusoff 
Koh See Khiang 
Lai Pok Khin Stephen
Law Chap Meng Vincent 
Leck Kwang Hwee Andy 
Lee Ying Ying Michelle 
Lely Suriayani Bte Jumari
Leng Chun Kong 

76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93

94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107

108

109
110

Lestrine Tan 
Liew Lan Hing 
Lim Peng Wee Nick
Lim Selwyn 
Louis Alvin Koh Hian Tang
Louis Du
Low Li Ling Lynette
Lowell Tan 
Mandy Yee Siew Ping
Mark Alexander
Mark Sing 
Mazlan bin Yusoff
Mazni Binte Kaswani
Md Roslan Bin Hashim 
Meera Ramachandran
Michelle Elizabeth Tan
Misnah Binte Ali 
Mohammad Shukor Bin 
Abdul Aziz
Mohd Azhar Bin Idros 
Mohd Fajry Mozerin Putra
Mohd Idros Bin Ibrahim 
Mohd Rizal Bin Omar 
Mohd Zaki Bin Sani 
Muhammand Faizal Bin Said
Muhd Eeraq Bin Mohd Wilee
Munirah Binte Abdul Rahim
Ng Jing Kai 
Ngoh Siew Yen 
Nicholas Steven Tay 
Noryati Binte Abu Bakar 
Nur Afiqah Binte Hamid  
Nur Arifah Khairah Binte 
Mohd Ariffin 
Nur Asyikin Binte  
Mohd Ariffin 
Nur Salawatty Bte Sulaiman 
Nur Syazana Thaqifah  
Binte Rosli 

111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147

Nurul Ashika Bte Azmi
Ong Bee Khim 
Patrick Goh
Philip Chong
Phoon Xue Lee Shirly
Phyllis Lim
Pitchaya Piyachan
Preemela V Cleetus 
Raghuvir Ramanadhan
Rajesh Upadhya Lukas Godfrey
Ranjit Singh
Rasool Beevi D/O Haja Hiyajudeen
Ronald Ray McNulty 
Roopa Vasudevan
Roslan Khan 
Roy Shuen 
Saliha Bte Muna Mohamed
Samson
Sandeep Uberoi 
Sarah Ann Rixom 
Sarah Salim 
Sarjit Singh
Selvanathan
Seng Yi Lin 
Shahrul Hawazi Bin Ramly 
Sheik Umar Bin Mohamed Bagushair 
Sherman Lim 
Shirley Wong Geck Hoon
Shue Zhen Yao 
Sivakumar S/O Ramasamy 
Soh Guan Kwee
Soh Yan Zhang 
Solihin
Soo Kun Fun 
Soo Kun Mun 
Sophia Ooi
Steven Chia Hung Ting

148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
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172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184

Sulabha Menon
Suraya Binte Mohamed 
Susan Chong Swee Sien
Sylvia Ang 
Tan Bee Geok Grace 
Tan Chin Hoe 
Tan Kay Chai
Tan Ljin 
Tan Qing Yang Andre
Tan Tee Hwee, Alex
Tan Wei Jin Daniel 
Tan Weiyi 
Tan Yan Chong 
Tarani Premchand Deepchand 
Taylen Lim
Teo Hui Ling 
Terence Tan Chee Tiong
Thomas Danny 
Trevor Woo Kok Leong 
Uthayakumar S/O Gopal, Samuel Kumar
Venus Wei
Vincent B. Santos 
Vivienne Lim
Wang Liang Jam Raymond
Willie Ng 
Wong Cai Fong Celest
Wong Gee Fong Joceline 
Xu Tinglin 
Yeo Chong Peng
Yeo Wei Chun Kelvin 
Yeo, Benedict
Yew Lai Mun
Yong Kim Li
Yong Liang
Yu Jinwei
Yvonne Tan 
Zahary Bin Zainal

our SelfleSS anD
DeDiCateD volunteerS
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inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

Statement BY DiRectORS

We state that, in the opinion of the board of directors, 

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of  
 changes in equity and funds and consolidated cash flow statement together with notes thereof are  
 drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Co-operative as  
 at 31 December 2011 and the results of the business, changes in equity of the Group and the  
 Co-operative and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Co-operative will be  
                 able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.  

On behalf of the board of directors,

andy lim
chairman

Wong Heng tew 
Honorary treasurer

Singapore,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICES CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Industrial and Services Co-operative Society 
Limited. (“the Co-operative”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) which comprise the balance sheets 
of the Group and the Co-operative as at 31 December 2011, the statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of changes in equity and funds of the Group and the Co-operative, consolidated cash flow statement 
of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Act (the Act) and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to 
provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; 
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of 
true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

(cont’d)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of 
changes in equity of the Co-operative are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Co-operative as at 31 December 2011 and the results and changes in equity and funds of the Group 
and the Co-operative and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Co-operative and 
by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KOnG, lim & PaRtneRS llP
Public accountants and
certified Public accountants

Singapore,
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inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

Balance SHeet
aS at 31 DecemBeR 2011

aSSetS

nOn-cURRent aSSetS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Other investments
total non-current assets

cURRent aSSetS
Trade and other receivables
Prepayment
Cash and cash equivalents
total current assets

total assets

eqUitY
Share capital
Statutory reserve fund
Common good fund
Other funds
Fair value reserve
Retained earnings

non-controlling interest
total equity

cURRent liaBilitieS
Trade and other payables
Provision for income tax
total liabilities

total equity and liabilities

notes

3
4
5
6

7

8

10
11
12
13
14

15

2011  
S$

1,163,918 
 -  

114,042 
7,367,334 
8,645,294 

 
309,615 

 3,300 
2,118,347 
2,431,262 

 11,076,556 

 184,110 
 - 

 440,396 
 395,435 
 (72,922)

 9,991,911 
 10,938,930 

 33,593 
 10,972,523 

102,955 
 1,078 

 104,033 

 11,076,556 

2011  
S$

 1,163,918 
 404,493 
 125,000 

 7,367,334 
 9,060,745 

 55,126 
 2,266 

 1,788,466 
 1,845,858 

 10,906,603 

 184,110 
 - 

 440,396 
 395,435 
 (72,922)

 9,782,603 
 10,729,622 

 - 
 10,729,622 

 176,981 
 - 

 176,981 

 10,906,603 

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe
2010  

S$

 1,218,737 
 - 

 56,568 
 5,983,399 
 7,258,704 

 380,436 
 4,960 

 3,503,843 
 3,889,239 

 11,147,943 

171,070 
 820,789 
 440,396 
 442,275 

 (246,507)
 9,355,902 

 10,983,925 
26,694 

 11,010,619 

134,814 
 2,510 

 137,324 

 11,147,943 

2010  
S$

 1,218,737 
 404,493 

 - 
 5,983,399 
 7,606,629 

 142,292 
 4,300 

 3,116,928 
 3,263,520 

 10,870,149 

 171,070 
 820,789 
 440,396 
 442,275 

 (246,507)
 9,172,890 

 10,800,913 
 - 

 10,800,913 

 69,236 
 - 

 69,236 

 10,870,149 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

cOnSOliDateD Statement OF cOmPReHenSiVe incOme
For the Financial Year ended 31 December 2011

ReVenUe
Sales of goods and services 
Other income 
 
itemS OF exPenSeS 
Staff and related costs 
Depreciation of property 
plant and equipment 
Other expenses 
Share of loss of associates 
 

lOSS BeFORe tax 
Income tax expense 
lOSS net OF tax  
 
OtHeR cOmPReHenSiVe incOme: 
Net gain on available-for-sale  
financial assets 
Other funds during the year 
Other comprehensive income  
for the year, net of tax 
 
total comprehensive loss for the year 
 
lOSS net OF tax attRiBUtaBle tO: 
Equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 
 
tOtal cOmPReHenSiVe lOSS 
attRiBUtaBle tO: 
Equity holders of the Company 
Non-controlling interest 

notes

16
17

19

3
20

21

2011  

1,059,188 
 331,999 

 1,391,187 

(1,387,162)

 (78,451)
 (161,524)

 56,807 
 (1,570,330)

 (179,143)
 (1,078)

 (180,221)

173,585
(46,840)

126,745

(53,476)

(184,780)
4,559

(180,221)

(58,035)
4,559

(53,476)

2011  

 35,163 
 399,408 
 434,571 

 (410,348)

 (78,451)
 (156,848)

 - 
 (645,647)

 (211,076)
 - 

 (211,076)

 173,585 
 (46,840)

 126,745 

 (84,331)

 (211,076)
 - 

 (211,076)

 (84,331)
 - 

 (84,331)

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe
2010  

 1,123,478 
 393,111 

 1,516,589 

(1,349,474)

 (16,703)
 (416,705)

 (553)
 (1,783,435)

 (266,846)
 (2,290)

 (269,136)

218,295
(91,521)

126,774

(142,362)

(260,989)
(8,147)

(269,136)

(134,215)
(8,147)

(142,362)

2010  

 104,281 
 403,817 
 508,098 

(394,662)

 (16,703)
 (377,049)

 - 
 (788,414)

 (280,316)
 - 

 (280,316)

 218,295 
 (91,521)

 126,774 

 (153,542)

 (280,316)
 - 

 (280,316)

 (153,542)
 - 

 (153,542)

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

Statement OF cHanGeS in eqUitY anD FUnDS
For the Financial Year ended 31 December 2011

GROUP 
 

Balance at 1 January 2010  
Issue of shares to new members (Note 10)  
Total comprehensive loss for the year 
 
Balance at 31 December 2010  
Issue of shares to new members (Note 10)  
Reclassification of statutory   
reserve fund (Note 11)  
Acquisition of investment in associate  
from the subsidiary (Note 5)  
Total comprehensive loss for the year  
 
Balance at 31 December 2011  

issued 
capital

S$

 157,310 
 13,760 

 - 

 171,070 
 13,040 

 - 

 - 
 - 

 184,110 

Other 
Funds

S$

 533,796 
 - 

 (91,521)

 442,275 
 - 

 - 

 - 
 (46,840)

 395,435 

Fair Value
Reserve

S$

 (464,802)
 - 

 218,295 

 (246,507)
 - 

 - 

 - 
 173,585 

 (72,922)

Statutory 
Reserve Fund

S$

 820,789 
 - 
 - 

 820,789 
 - 
 

(820,789)

 - 
 - 

 - 

common 
Good Fund

S$

  440,396 
 - 
 - 

 440,396 
 - 

 - 

 - 
 - 

 440,396 

Retained
earnings

S$

 9,616,891 
 - 

 (260,989)

 9,355,902 
 - 
 

820,789 

 - 
 (184,780)

 9,991,911 

total
equity

S$

 11,139,221 
 13,760 

 (142,362)

 11,010,619 
 13,040 

 - 

 2,340 
 (53,476)

 10,972,523 

total
S$

 11,104,380 
 13,760 

 (134,215)

 10,983,925 
 13,040 

 - 

 - 
 (58,035)

 10,938,930 

minority
interest

S$

  34,841 
 - 

 (8,147)

 26,694 
 - 

 - 

 2,340 
 4,559 

 33,593 

attRiBUtaBle tO eqUitY HOlDeRS OF tHe cO-OPeRatiVe

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral 
part of the financial statements.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

Statement OF cHanGeS in eqUitY anD FUnDS
For the Financial Year ended 31 December 2011

S$

 9,453,206 
 - 

 (280,316)

 9,172,890 
 - 
 

820,789 
 (211,076)

 9,782,603 

S$

 10,940,695 
 13,760 

 (153,542)

 10,800,913 
 13,040 

 - 
 (84,331)

 10,729,622 

cO-OPeRatiVe

 
Balance at 1 January 2010  
Issue of shares to new members (Note 10)  
Total comprehensive loss for the year 
 
Balance at 31 December 2010  
Issue of shares to new members (Note 10)  
Reclassification of statutory   
reserve fund (Note 11)  
Total comprehensive loss for the year  
 
Balance at 31 December 2011  

S$

  157,310 
 13,760 

 - 

 171,070 
 13,040 

 - 
 - 

 184,110 

S$

  533,796 
 - 

 (91,521)

 442,275 
 - 

 - 
 (46,840)

 395,435

S$

 (464,802)
 - 

 218,295 

 (246,507)
 - 

 - 
 173,585 

 (72,922)

S$

  820,789 
 - 
 - 

 820,789 
 - 
 

(820,789)
 - 

 - 

S$

   440,396 
 - 
 - 

 440,396 
 - 

 - 
 - 

 440,396
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caSH FlOWS FROm OPeRatinG actiVitieS
Loss before tax
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Dividend income
Net loss/(surplus) from other investment
Gain loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Share of (profit)/loss of associates
Operating loss before working capital changes

Working capital changes:
Assets held under liquidation
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Trade and other payables

cash generated from/(used in) operations
Income Tax Paid

net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities

caSH FlOWS FROm inVeStinG actiVitieS
Purchases of plant and equipment
Net Placement with fund manager for investment
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Dividend received

net cash flows used in investing activities

caSH FlOWS FROm FinancinG actiVitieS
Issuance of shares
Payment of other funds
Fixed deposit pledged for bank facilities

net cash flows used in financing activities

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 8)

 2011 
 S$ 

(179,143)

 78,451 
 (12,536)
 163,981 

(293)
 (56,807)

(6,347)

- 
70,821 

1,660 
(31,859)

34,275 
(2,510)
31,765 

 (23,632)
 (1,373,358)

 293 
 12,536 

 (1,384,161)

 13,740 
 (46,840)

 (280)
 (33,380)

 (1,385,776)
 3,307,655 
 1,921,879 

 2010 
 S$ 

 (266,846)

 16,703 
 (5,486)

 (88,175)
 (100)

 553 
 (343,351)

 29,400 
 (69,003)

 (662)
 7,174 

 (376,442)
 (2,266)

 (378,708)

 (1,206,265)
 (1,013,436)

 100 
 5,486 

 (2,214,115)

 13,760 
 (91,521)

 (428)
 (78,189)

 (2,671,012)
 5,978,667 
 3,307,655 

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

cOnSOliDateD caSH FlOW Statement
For the Financial Year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1.       GeneRal
Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited (the “Co-operative”) is a society registered under 
the Co-operative Societies Act, Cap. 62. Its principal place of business and registered office is at  
237 Alexandra Road #04-19, The Alexcier Singapore 159929.  
The principal activity of the Co-operative is to provide a channel for gainful employment and self-help 
activities for discharged inmates of penal institutions and drug rehabilitation centres.  It also participates 
in commercial activities through various business divisions. There have been no significant changes in 
the nature of these activities during the financial year.

2.      SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS

2.1    Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and the statement of changes 
in equity and funds of the Co-operative have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (FRS).
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$).
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the 
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and Interpretations of 
FRS (INT FRS) that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The adoption of 
these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of 
the Group and the Co-operative.

2.2    Standards issued but not yet effective
The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not  
yet effective:

Description

Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
Amendments to FRS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

1 July 2011
1 January 2012

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards and interpretations above will have no material 
impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.
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2       SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.3    Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Co-operative and its 
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as 
the Co-operative. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.  
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a  
deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
l De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts  
       at the date when controls is loss;
l De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
l De-recognises the cumulative transaction differences recorded in equity;
l Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
l Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
l Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;
l Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income  
       to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

2.4    transactions with non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, 
to members of the Co-operative and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet separately from equity 
attributable to members of the Co-operative.
Changes in the Co-operative members’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the 
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
members of the Co-operative.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)
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2.       SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.5    Foreign currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the  
Co-operative’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Co-operative 
and its subsidiary and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates 
approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.6    Significant accounting estimates and Judgments
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However, 
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of asset and liability affected in the future periods.

Judgments made in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments apart from those involving estimation which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Impairment of available-for-sale investments
The Group records impairment charges on available for sale equity investments when there has been 
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. The determination of what is 
“significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates among 
other factors, historical share price movements and the duration and extent to which the fair value of an 
investment is less than its cost. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of assets available for sale 
was S$7,367,334 (2010: S$5,983,399).
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2.6    Significant accounting estimates and Judgments (cont’d)

KEy SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF UNCERTAINTy
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the plant and 
equipment’s estimated economic useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, 
plant and equipment within 3 to 25 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the similar 
industry. Changes in the expected level of usage could impact the economic useful lives of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s 
and Co-operative’s property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2011 are disclosed in Note 3 to the  
financial statement. 

Impairment of loans and receivables
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and 
default or significant delay in payments.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amount 
of the Group’s loans and receivable at the end of the reporting period is S$2,427,962 (2010: S$3,884,279).

2.7    Property, Plant and equipment 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to the working condition for its intended use. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the 
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation respectively. 
Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment as replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
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2.       SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.7    Property, Plant and equipment (cont’d)
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriated. 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included 
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

2.8    impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, 
if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries 
or other available fair value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for assets that are previously revalued where 
the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

Years

3 - 5
5

25

Computers and equipment
Renovation
Property
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2.8    impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured 
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.9   Subsidiary companies 
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
In the Co-operative’s separate financial statements, an investment in subsidiary is accounted for at cost 
less impairment losses.

2.10  associates
An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant 
influence. An associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until 
the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.
The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity 
method, the investment in associates is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill relating to associates is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor tested individually for impairment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable asset, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the 
Group’s share of results of the associate in the period in which the investment is acquired.
The profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associates. Where there has been a 
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognizes its share of 
such changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.
The Group’s share of the profit or loss of its associates is shown on the face of profit or loss after tax and 
non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of associates.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of  
the associate.
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2.       SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.10  associates (cont’d)
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an 
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at the end 
of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in profit or loss.
The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Co-operative. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognised any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the aggregate of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11  Financial assets 

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  

SUBSEqUENT MEASUREMENT
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method, less impairment.  Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through 
the amortisation process. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables” and “cash 
and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet date.
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2.11  Financial assets (cont’d)

Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified available 
for sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through 
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the 
market conditions.
After initial recognition, available for sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and 
interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
Investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.

DERECOGNITION
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.12   impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired.  

FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial assets, whether significant or not, it includes the 
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.        SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.12   impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account.  The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has incurred, 
the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date.  The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

AvAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence of impairment include 
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant changes with 
an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in 
which the issuer operates and indicates that the cost of the investment in equity instrument may not be 
recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. 
‘Significant’ is to be evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the 
period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
If an available for sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its 
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income 
and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments are not 
recognised in profit or loss, increase in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

2.13   cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits, and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2.14   Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability. 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

2.15   Financial liabilities

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities 
at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

DERECOGNITION
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.16   employee benefits 

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which 
it has operations. In particular, the Group make contributions to the Central Provident fund scheme 
in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to national pension schemes are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)
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2.        SiGniFicant accOUntinG POlicieS (cOnt’D)

2.17   Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue 
is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually 
defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.
Revenue from services is recognised over the period the services are performed.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2.18   income tax

a)          Current tax

Current income tax for the current and prior periods is measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
subsequently enacted by balance sheet date.
Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax arises from a 
transaction which is recognised directly in equity.

b)          Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at balance sheet 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. There is no deferred income tax at balance sheet date.

c)          Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

l Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation  
        authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as  
        part of the expense item as applicable; and 
l Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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2.19   Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that person: 

(i)    Has control or joint control over the Company; 
(ii)   Has significant influence over the Company; or 
(iii)  Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of 
        the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)    The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent ,  
               subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others)

(ii)   One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a  
               member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
(v)   The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company  

                    or an entity related to the Company. If the company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers  
              are also related to the Company;

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key  

              management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

2.20   Share capital 

Proceeds from issuance of shares are recognised as share capital in equity. 

3.       PROPeRtY, Plant anD eqUiPment

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)
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GROUP

cost
As at 01.01.2010
Additions
As at 31.12.2010
Additions
As at 31.12.2011
accumulated depreciation
As at 01.01.2010
Depreciation for the year
As at 31.12.2010
Depreciation for the year
As at 31.12.2011
net book value
As at 31.12.2010
As at 31.12.2011

cO-OPeRatiVe

cost
As at 01.01.2010
Additions
As at 31.12.2010
Additions
As at 31.12.2011
accumulated depreciation
As at 01.01.2010
Depreciation for the year
As at 31.12.2010
Depreciation for the year
As at 31.12.2011
net book value
As at 31.12.2010
As at 31.12.2011

computers and 
equipment

S$

 116,987 
 9,005 

 125,992 
 23,632 

 149,624 

87,812 
 16,703 

 104,515 
 19,044 

 123,559 

 21,477 
26,065 

 115,027 
 9,005 

 124,032 
 23,632 

 147,664 

 85,852 
 16,703 

 102,555 
 19,044 

 121,599 

 21,477 
 26,065 

 - 
 71,980 
 71,980 

 - 
 71,980 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 14,396 
 14,396 

 71,980 
 57,584 

 - 
 1,125,280 
 1,125,280 

 - 
 1,125,280 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 45,011 
 45,011 

1,125,280 
1,080,269 

 115,027 
 1,206,265 
 1,321,292 

 23,632 
 1,344,924 

 85,852 
 16,703 

 102,555 
 78,451 

 181,006 

 1,218,737 
1,163,918 

Renovation
S$

 - 
 71,980 
 71,980 

 - 
 71,980 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 14,396 
 14,396 

 71,980 
 57,584 

Property
S$

 - 
 1,125,280 
 1,125,280 

 - 
 1,125,280 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 45,011 
 45,011 

 1,125,280 
 1,080,269 

total
S$

 116,987 
 1,206,265 
 1,323,252 

 23,632 
 1,346,884 

 87,812 
 16,703 

 104,515 
 78,451 

 182,966 

 1,218,737 
 1,163,918 

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)
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Shares, at cost
Less: Impairment loss

cO-OPeRatiVe

 2011 
 S$ 

1,703,000
(1,298,507)

404,493

 2010 
 S$ 

1,703,000
(1,298,507)

404,493

Mister Clean Private 
Limited*

RE Holdings Private 
Limited*

Singapore

Singapore

Building- cleaning 
and janitoral 
services 

Carry on the 
buiness of an 
investment 
holding company 

Held by the  
co-operative

%

100

82 82

100  333,000 

 1,370,000 

 1,703,000 

 333,000 

 1,370,000 

 1,703,000 

% S$ S$

name
cOUntRY OF 

incORPORatiOn 

anD OPeRatiOn

PRinciPal

actiVitieS

% OF eqUitY inteReSt  

HelD BY tHe GROUP

cOSt OF inVeStment  HelD 

BY tHe cO-OPeRatiVe

2011 20112010 2010

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

*   Audited by Kong, Lim & Partners LLP

5.       inVeStment in aSSOciateS

Shares, at cost
Share of post acquisition results

GROUP

 2011 
 S$ 

252,340
(138,298)

114,042

 2010 
 S$ 

300,000
(243,432)

56,568

Connect Centre
Pte Ltd*

I.M. Boss 
(F&B) Pte Ltd**

%
25

- 50

25  252,340 

-

 252,340 

 250,000 

50,000

 300,000 

% S$ S$

name

Singapore

Singapore

cOUntRY OF 

incORPORatiOn 

anD OPeRatiOn

Set up and manage 
a call center and to 
engage in all other 
related activities

Develop food and 
beverage franchise

PRinciPal

actiVitieS

eqUitY inteReSt cOSt OF inVeStment

2011 20112010 2010

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011

The investment in I.M Boss (F&B) Pte Ltd was sold during the year 2011 with consideration of S$1,723.05 and 
the Group had reported gain on sale of investment of approximately S$50.49.
During the year, the Co-operative bought the investment in Connect Centre Pte Ltd with a consideration of 
S$125,000 for 25% ownership from the subsidiary. As a result, the subsidiary recognised gain on sale of its 
investment in associate approximately S$13,297.98 which distributed to non-controlling interest amounted 
to S$2,340.

The summarised financial information of the associated companies are as follows:

*   Audited by Kong, Lim & Partners LLP

** Exempted for audit.

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

5.       inVeStment in aSSOciateS (cOnt’D)

aSSetS anD liaBilitieS:
Non-current assets 
Current assets 
Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Total liabilities

ReSUltS:
Revenue
Profit/(loss) for the financial year

 2011 
 S$ 

 169,625 
 565,301 
 734,926 

 276,043 
 276,043 

 1,746,937 
 230,016 

 2010 
 S$ 

 42,781 
 368,568 
 411,349 

 173,585 
 173,585 

 1,347,066 
 (3,095)
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6.       OtHeR inVeStmentS

7.       tRaDe anD OtHeR ReceiVaBleS

available for sale
- unquoted shares in Co-operative
- quoted bonds 

Trade receivables
Subsidiary company
Related parties
Other debtors

Other receivables
Subsidiary company
Deposits
Others

Total trade and other receivables
Add: Cash and cash equivalents
Total loan and receivables

GROUP anD cO-OPeRatiVe

 2011 
 S$ 

 50,000 
 7,317,334 
 7,367,334 

 2010 
 S$ 

 50,000 
 5,933,399 
 5,983,399 

United States Dollar
Brazil Real
Singapore Dollar
Australia Dollar

GROUP anD cO-OPeRatiVe

 2011 
 S$ 

 135,065 
 237,803 

 6,994,466 
 - 

 7,367,334 

 2010 
 S$ 

  797,206 
 287,525 

 4,396,313 
 502,355 

 5,983,399 

The investments are denominated in the 
following currencies:

2011  
S$

 -   
 2,484 

 227,054 
 229,538 

 -   
 69,050 
 11,027 
 80,077 

 309,615 
 2,118,347 
 2,427,962 

2011  
S$

 2,140 
 2,484 

 21,925 
 26,549 

 - 
 17,550 
 11,027 
 28,577 

 
55,126 

 1,788,466 
 1,843,592 

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 -   
 10,866 

 217,066 
 227,932 

 -   
 62,953 
 89,551 

 152,504 

 380,436 
 3,503,843 
 3,884,279 

2010  
S$

 
12,309 
 10,866 

 -   
 23,175 

 8,113 
 21,453 
 89,551 

 119,117 

 142,292 
 3,116,928 
 3,259,220 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 14-90 days terms.  They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011
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7.       tRaDe anD OtHeR ReceiVaBleS (cOnt’D)

RECEIvABLES THAT ARE PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED
The Group has trade receivables amounting to S$137,357 (2010: S$227,932) that are past due at the 
balance sheet date but not impaired.  These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at 
the balance sheet is as follows:

Trade receivables past due:
Lesser than 30 days
30 to 60 days
61 to 90 days

Trade receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January
Written off
Written back
At 31 December 

2011  
S$

 79,377 
 38,495 
 19,485 

 137,357 

2011  
S$

 13,159 
 (13,159)

 - 

 13,159 
 -   
 -   

 13,159 

2011  
S$

  1,200 
 - 

 12,869 
 14,069 

2011  
S$

 10,270 
 (10,270)

 - 

 10,270 
 -   
 -   

 10,270 

GROUP

GROUP

cO-OPeRatiVe

cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 222,021 
 5,911 

 - 
 227,932 

2010  
S$

 13,159 
 (13,159)

 - 

 56,718 
 (22,134)
 (21,425)

 13,159 

2010  
S$

 
 23,175 

 - 
 - 

 23,175 

2010  
S$

 
  10,270 

 (10,270)
 - 

 45,816 
 (18,048)
 (17,498)

 10,270 

RECEIvABLES THAT ARE IMPAIRED
The Group’s trade and other receivables that are individually impaired at 
the balance sheet date are as follows:

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate 
to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables 
are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.



88 89

financial statements financial statements

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
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8.       caSH anD caSH eqUiValentS

9.       centRal cO-OPeRatiVe FUnD

10.      SHaRe caPital

Fixed deposits
Cash and bank balances

Pledge for bank facilities
Cash and cash equivalents

2011  
S$

 594,091 
 1,524,256 
 2,118,347 

 196,468 
 1,921,879 

2011  
S$

 562,623 
 1,225,843 
 1,788,466 

 165,000 
 1,623,466 

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 2,785,780 
 718,063 

 3,503,843 
 196,188 

 3,307,655 

2010  
S$

 
  2,754,592 

 362,336 
 3,116,928 

 165,000 
 2,951,928 

Fixed deposits amounting to $196,468 (2010: $196,188) have been pledged with a bank as security for 
banking facilities granted to the Group. 

Pursuant to Section 71 of the Co-operative Society Act, Cap. 62, every society shall contribute 5% of the 
first $500,000 of the surplus resulting from operations of the society to the Central Co-operative Fund 
and 20% of any surplus in excess of $500,000 from the operations of the society either to the Central Co-
operative Fund or to the Singapore Labour Foundation as the society may opt. 

Beginning balance
Additions during the year
Ending balance

2011  
S$

 171,070 
 13,040 

 184,110 

2011  
S$

  171,070 
 13,040

 184,110

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 157,310 
 13,760 

 171,070

2010  
S$

 
   157,310 

 13,760 
 171,070 

By-law 4.5 states that:
“Every member shall pay the following dues on becoming a member of the Society:

a) entrance fee of $10.00 (Ten Dollars); and

b) payment for purchase of at least 10 shares subject to By-law 9.3.2.”
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11.     StatUtORY ReSeRVe FUnD

14.    FaiR ValUe ReSeRVe

12.     cOmmOn GOOD FUnD

13.     OtHeR FUnDS

Previously, the Co-operative used to transfer into the reserve fund a portion of the results from the 
operations of the Co-operative during the financial period under Section 70.  With effect from 20 October 
2008, provision under Section 70 to contribute Statutory Reserve Fund has been withdrawn from the Act. 
During the year, the statutory reserve fund had been transferred to retained earnings.

Fair value reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-for-sale financial 
assets until they are disposed of or impaired.

The fund shall be used for the benefit of the members of the Co-operative and may, with the approval 
of the Registrar, be devoted to any educational, medical, social or charitable purposes.  The common 
good fund shall be derived from an annual contribution, not exceeding 10% of the net surplus of the Co-
operative, subject to the approval at the general meeting.  It is not available for dividends.  

Fairy Godparent Fund
Gift of Hope Fund
Friends of ISCOS Fund
Skills Training Fund
Membership Program Funds
SMS Services

2011  
S$

 60,221 
 149,383 

 - 
 104,960 

 69,575 
 11,296 

 395,435 

2011  
S$

 60,221 
 149,383 

 - 
 104,960 

 69,575 
 11,296 

 395,435 

GROUP cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 86,074 
 180,126 

 6,807 
 36,100 

 108,213 
 24,955 

 442,275 

2010  
S$

 
  86,074 

 180,126 
 6,807 

 36,100 
 108,213 

 24,955 
 442,275 

The movements of these funds are disclosed in the Statement in Changes in Equity and Funds.  
These funds are set up with their objectives as follows:
a)  To provide support to offenders’ and ex-offenders’ families, especially their children 
     (usually the secondary victims of crime);
b)  Welcoming back ex-offenders into the society by presenting a “goodie bag” through “Gift of Hope”     
      initiative; and
c)  In support of work to help ex-offenders and their children.
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15.    tRaDe anD OtHeR PaYaBleS

16.    ReVenUe

17.    OtHeR incOme

Trade payables
Other payables

Accruals
Deposit received
Others

Cleaning services
Sales of services

Membership fees received
Dividend income from unquoted equities
Interest income-non related parties
Gain on sale of property, plant  
and equipment
Management fees
Bad debts recovered
Net (loss)/gain from other investment 
Workmen injury compensation
Support and administration fee
Gain on foreign exchange 

2011  
S$

  47,148 

 13,800 
 4,201 

 37,806 
 102,955 

2011  
S$

   1,036,203 
 22,985 

 1,059,188 

2011  
S$

43,523 
 12,536 

 289,754 
 

293 
 14,225 

 440 
 (163,981)

 2,850 
 75,204 
 31,318 

2011  
S$

 5,347 

 6,600 
 4,201 

 160,833 
 176,981 

2011  
S$

 12,178 
 22,985 
 35,163 

2011  
S$

12,215 
 29,186 

 289,754 

 293 
 40,900 

 440 
 (163,981)

 - 
 75,204 
 31,318 

GROUP

GROUP

GROUP

cO-OPeRatiVe

cO-OPeRatiVe

cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 49,575 

 58,565 
 6,008 

 20,665 
 134,814 

2010  
S$

 1,121,025 
 2,453 

 1,123,478 

2010  
S$

 43,869 
 5,486 

 193,239 
 

100 
 6,775 

 17,498 
 88,175 

 - 
 - 
 - 

2010  
S$

 
 -   

 47,940 
 6,008 

 15,288 
 69,236 

2010  
S$

 
 101,828 

 2,453 
 104,281 

2010  
S$

 11,159 
22,135 

 193,239 
 

100 
 38,800 
 17,498 
 88,175 

 - 
 - 
 - 

The following items have been included in arriving at other income:
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18.     RelateD PaRtY tRanSactiOnS

19.     StaFF anD RelateD cOStS

20.     OtHeR exPenSeS

The Group has significant transactions with its related parties on terms agreed between the parties 
during the year were as follows:

Related parties
Management fees received

General expenses
Repair and maintenance
Telephone charges
Transport
Utilities
Rental

Key management’s remuneration
Salaries and CPF

Staff and related costs
Salaries
CPF/SDL/FWL
Others

2011  
S$

 14,225 

2011  
S$

 5,671 
 11,886 

 9,839 
 11,719 

 8,548 
 -   

2011  
S$

  85,398 

 1,258,998 
 37,789 

 4,977 
 1,301,764 
1,387,162 

2011  
S$

40,900 

2011  
S$

 5,307 
 11,496 

 9,275 
 11,719 

 8,548 
 -   

2011  
S$

 85,398 

 275,925 
 44,117 

 4,908 
 324,950 
 410,348 

GROUP

GROUP

GROUP

cO-OPeRatiVe

cO-OPeRatiVe

cO-OPeRatiVe

2010  
S$

 6,775 

2010  
S$

 58,261 
 6,953 

 10,895 
 13,409 

 6,116 
 107,721 

2010  
S$

 104,325 

 1,197,813 
 44,178 

 3,158 
 1,245,149 
 1,349,474 

2010  
S$

 
 38,800 

2010  
S$

 57,232 
 6,953 
 9,606 

 13,409 
 6,116 

 107,721 

2010  
S$

 
 104,325 

 247,463 
 42,196 

 678 
 290,337 
 394,662 

Related parties comprise mainly companies which are controlled or significantly influenced by the 
Group’s key management personnel.

The following items have been included in arriving at other expenses:
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21.     incOme tax exPenSe

22.     Financial RiSK manaGement

Current year
Over provision in prior year

loss before tax
Tax at 17% 
Exempt income
Non-allowable items

2011  
S$

 1,078 
 -   

 1,078 

2011  
S$

 (179,143)
 (30,454)

 (2,778)
 34,310 

 1,078 

GROUP

GROUP

2010  
S$

 2,510 
 (220)
 2,290 

2010  
S$

 (266,846)
 (45,364)

 -   
 47,654 

 2,290 

The Co-operative is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act and under Section 13(1)(f ) of the 
Income Tax Act; the income of any co-operative registered under the Co-operative Societies Act is 
exempted from tax. 

The reconciliation of the tax expense and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate are as follows:

a)       Financial risk management objectives and policies 
The Group and the Co-operative is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of 
financial instruments. The key financial risks include foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Co-operative’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risks.

b)       Foreign currency risk
The Group’s foreign currency risk results mainly from cash flows and transactions denominated in  
foreign currencies.
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22.     Financial RiSK manaGement (cOnt’D)

b)       Foreign currency risk (cont’d)
SENSITIvITy ANALySIS FOR FOREIGN CURRENCy
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss net of tax to reasonably possible 
changes in the following foreign currencies exchange rates against the functional currencies of the Group 
entities, with all other variables held constant.

USD/SGD

BRL/SGD

AUD/SGD

- strengthened 8% (2010: 4%)
- weakened 8% (2010: 4%)
- strengthened 13% (2010: 8%)
- weakened 13% (2010: 8%)
- strengthened Nil (2010: 6%)
- weakened Nil (2010: 6%)

 2011 
 S$ 

  Loss net of  tax 

8,968 
 (8,968)
 25,659 

 (25,659)
 N/A 
 N/A 

 2010 
 S$ 

 Loss net of tax 

28,125 
 (28,125)

 20,411 
 (20,411)

 25,206 
 (25,206)

c)       credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Co-operative’s exposures to credit risk arises primarily 
from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including other investment, cash and cash 
equivalents), the Group and the Co-operative minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit 
rating counterparties.
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimizing losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy parties. It is the 
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification. 
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

At the end of the reporting period, approximately:
l 92% (2010: 86%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 1 major customer who is located  
     in Singapore.
l 22% (2010: 39%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables were due from related parties

FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE NEITHER PAST DUE NOR IMPAIRED
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with 
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22.     Financial RiSK manaGement (cOnt’D)

c)        credit Risk (cont’d)
good payment record with the Group. Cash and other investments that are neither past due nor impaired 
are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings 
and no history of default.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE NEITHER PAST DUE OR IMPAIRED
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 7.

d)       interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through 
the impact of rate changes on interest bearing fixed deposits. The sensitivity analysis for changes in 
interest rates is not disclosed as the effect on profit or loss is considered not significant.

e)       liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 
shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Co-operative’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and  bank balances 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group targets for available funds in the form of surplus liquidity and aims at maintaining flexibility in 
funding by keeping committed and uncommitted credit lines available.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Co-operative’s financial assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

22.     Financial RiSK manaGement (cOnt’D)

GROUP

as at 31 December 2011
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total undiscounted financial assets

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Total undiscounted net financial assets

On demand
S$ 

 

 - 
 2,118,347 
 2,118,347 

 - 
 - 

 2,118,347 

total
S$ 

 
 

309,615 
2,118,347 
 2,427,962 

102,955 
102,955 

 2,325,007 

One year 
or less

S$ 

309,615 
- 

 309,615 

 102,955 
 102,955 

 206,660 

more than
one year 

S$ 

- 
 - 
 - 

 - 
-

 - 

as at 31 December 2010
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total undiscounted financial assets

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Total undiscounted net financial assets

S$ 
 

 - 
 3,503,843 
 3,503,843 

 - 
 - 

 3,503,843 

S$ 
 

 380,436 
 3,503,843 
 3,884,279 

 134,814 
 134,814 

 3,749,465 

S$ 
 

380,436 
 -

 380,436 

 134,814 
 134,814 

 245,622 

S$ 
 

- 
 - 
 - 

 - 
-

 - 

e)        liquidity risk (cont’d)
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cO-OPeRatiVe

as at 31 December 2011
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total undiscounted financial assets

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Total undiscounted net financial assets/ 
(liabilities)

On demand
S$ 

 

 - 
 1,788,466 
 1,788,466 

-
 - 

 1,788,466 

total
S$ 

 
 

 55,126 
1,788,466 
1,843,592 

 176,981 
 176,981 

 1,666,611 

One year 
or less

S$ 

 55,126 
 - 

 55,126 

 176,981 
 176,981 

 (121,855)

more than
one year 

S$ 

- 
 - 
 - 

 - 
-

 - 

as at 31 December 2010
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total undiscounted financial assets

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Total undiscounted net financial assets

 S$ 
 

 - 
3,116,928 
 3,116,928 

 - 
 - 

 3,116,928 

S$ 
 
 

 142,292 
3,116,928 
3,259,220 

 69,236 
 69,236 

 3,189,984 

 S$ 
 

 142,292 
- 

 142,292 

 69,236 
 69,236 

 73,056 

S$ 

- 
 - 
 - 

 - 
-

 - 

e)        liquidity risk (cont’d)

nOteS tO tHe Financial StatementS – 31 DecemBeR 2011

inDUStRial anD SeRViceS cO-OPeRatiVe SOcietY limiteD anD itS SUBSiDiaRieS
(Registration Number – RCS 200)

22.     Financial RiSK manaGement (cOnt’D)

f)        Fair values 

(i)  Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried out at fair value and whose  
       carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value.

The carrying amount of financial assets, except other investment, and financial liabilities are reasonable 
approximate of fair values due to their short-term nature.

(ii)  Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value     
hierarchy:

as at 31 December 2011
available-for-sale financial assets
- quoted bonds

as at 31 December 2010
available-for-sale financial assets
- quoted bonds

 quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
instruments

level 1 
S$ 

 7,317,334 
 7,317,334 

 7,317,334 

5,933,399
 5,933,399

 5,933,399

  Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

level 2
 S$ 

 - 
 - 

 - 

- 
 - 

 - 

 Significant 
unobserv-

able inputs 
level 3

 S$ 

 - 
 - 

 - 

- 
 - 

 - 

total
 S$ 

 7,317,334 
 7,317,334 

 7,317,334 

5,933,399 
 5,933,399

 5,933,399
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f)        Fair values (cont’d)

(ii)   Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

FAIR vALUE HIERARCHy
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

l Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
l Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset  
     or liability, either directly or indirectly
l Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
    (unobservable inputs) 

DETERMINATION OF FAIR vALUE
quoted debt and equity instruments: Fair value is determined by direct reference to their bid price 
quotations in an active market at the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Fair value of financial instrument by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying    
        amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investments in equity instruments 
amounted to $50,000 that are carried at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably. The 
Group does not intend to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable future.

g)      capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize members value. In order to 
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, 
return capital to members or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and 
processes during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Group is not subjected to externally imposed capital requirements.

23.     aUtHORiSatiOn OF Financial StatementS
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 were authorised for  issue by the 
Board of Directors on date of the Statement by Directors.


